### KHAZAR UNIVERSITY

School: Graduate School of Sciences, Arts and Technology Department: English Language and Literature Specialty: 060203 - Translation (English language)

### **MASTER'S THESIS**

# THE TRANSLATION OF ONOMASTIC UNITS IN A.HUXLEY'S "BRAVE NEW WORLD"

Student:	Aytac Iskender Pashayeva
-	

Supervisor: \_\_\_\_\_ PhD in Philology Irina Gatemovna Orujova

## XƏZƏR UNİVERSİTETİ

Fakültə: Təbiət elmləri, Sənət və Texnologiya yüksək təhsil Departament:İngilis dili və ədəbiyyatı İxtisas: 060203 - Tərcümə (ingilis dili)

## MAGİSTR DİSSERTASİYA TEZİSİ

### A. HUXLEYİN "CƏSUR YENİ DÜNYA" ƏSƏRİNDƏ ONOMASTİK VAHİDLƏRİN TƏRCÜMƏSİ

İddiaçı: \_\_\_\_\_\_Aytac İskəndər Paşayeva

Elmi rəhbər: \_\_\_\_\_ Dr. İrina fil.d.dos. Qatemnovna Orucova

Bakı 2025

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	4
CHAPTER I. LITERATURE REVIEW	16
1.1. Definition, Scope, and Significance of Onomastics	16
1.2 Onomastic Units and Their Role in Literary Translation	27
1.3. The Relevance of Names in Huxley's "Brave New World"	
1.4. Theoretical Integration: Onomastics within Translation Studies	
CHAPTER II. METHODLOGY	
2.1 Naming Conventions and Classification in the Original Text	
2.2 Symbolism and Societal Implications of Names in the Novel	46
CHAPTER III. RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS	50
3.1 Challenges of Translating Onomastic Units	50
3.2. Strategies for Preserving Context and Meaning in Translation	52
3.3. Comparative Analysis of Onomastic Units in the Original and Azerbaijani T	Franslation56
CONCLUSION	61
REFERENCES	66
APPENDICES	70

#### INTRODUCTION

#### Actuality of the Theme

The importance of onomastics in literature—and, more especially, literary translation is gaining scholarly attention, particularly in light of worldwide linguistic exchange and cultural adaptation. Onomastics, or the study of names and naming systems, offers profound insights into identity formation, ideological representation, cultural memory, and narrative function. As worldwide literary works are increasingly translated and disseminated across languages and countries, accurate name rendering is critical to preserving the author's purpose and the text's interpretive depth.

This is especially true in dystopian literature, where names are more than just ornamental or traditional character markers; they also serve as ideological instruments, narrative anchors, and symbolic devices. They frequently serve as intertextual references, using history, politics, science, and religion to convey complicated meanings. Names in this category can allude to control systems, criticize social structures, or ridicule political ideas. Translating such titles requires not just language knowledge but also philosophical and sociopolitical understanding.

Aldous Huxley's "Brave New World" shows the intricate link between onomastics and ideology. The story creates a dystopian world in which persons and organizations are named with purposeful satirical aim. Names like "Lenina Crowne," "Bernard Marx," "Mustapha Mond," and phrases like "Bokanovsky's Process" or "Soma" have several connections to historical personalities, political ideologies, scientific discoveries, and cultural values. These names are important in establishing the novel's narrative world and influencing readers' interpretations of its satirical message. As so, they contribute significantly to the novel's thematic framework and philosophical resonance.

The translation of these onomastic components into Azerbaijani has a distinct set of obstacles. Azerbaijani, as a Turkic language with its own sociopolitical history and cultural contexts, differs greatly from English in terms of phonetics, morphology, and symbolic connotations. The Azerbaijani translator must next determine whether to keep the names' foreignness, alter them for phonetic or cultural compatibility, or contextualize them with explanatory paratexts. Each option affects how the novel's ideas and narrative tone are transmitted to Azerbaijani readers.

Furthermore, Azerbaijan's linguistic and political history, which has been influenced by Persian, Turkish, Russian, and Islamic cultures, complicates the process of name translation. Names having Western political or ideological importance may not have the same symbolic weight or recognizability among Azerbaijani readers. This means that translation is more than just a linguistic task; it is also a cultural negotiation. The translator must follow Huxley's ideological aims while adapting them to a different semiotic and cultural setting.

This research is contemporary and important, given the expanding internationalization of English-language classics and scholarly interest in translation studies. It adds to the fields of onomastics, literary translation, and comparative literature by offering a concentrated, extensive case study of the Azerbaijani translation of one of the twentieth century's most significant dystopian works. The study illuminates broader issues concerning international communication, literary reception, and ideological transference by examining how names are translated, modified, or explained.

Furthermore, as translation continues to play an important part in the global circulation of literature, this study sheds light on the ethics and mechanics of cross-linguistic literary interchange. The findings have practical consequences not only for translators and literary scholars, but also for educators, publishers, and cultural policymakers who use literature to promote cross-cultural understanding. It illustrates the intricate interplay of language, ideology, and culture in literary translation, emphasizing the significance of names as not only linguistic but also narrative and ideological creations. This thesis views the translation of onomastic units as fundamental to the process of expressing literature meaningfully and faithfully across languages.

#### **Object of Investigation**

This research focuses on Aldous Huxley's English-language novel "Brave New World" and its Azerbaijani adaptation.

#### Subject of Investigation

The research focuses on the novel's onomastic units—personal names, created terms, institutional titles, and slogans—as well as the tactics used in their Azerbaijani translation.

#### The Aims and Objectives

P A

The fundamental goal of this thesis is to look at the translation of onomastic elements proper names, institutional titles, slogans, and devised terminology—from Aldous Huxley's "Brave New World" into Azerbaijani language. The primary purpose of this inquiry is to analyze how translation procedures affect the text's ideological, symbolic, and narrative integrity. The study aims to determine if the Azerbaijani translation conveys the subtle purposes that these onomastic pieces perform in the original English version, which include satire, ideological critique, historical reference, and thematic building.

Onomastic units are central to "Brave New World's" satirical and dystopian framework. They are more than just labels; they are ideological markers, allusions, and narrative coherence devices. Names like Bernard Marx, Mustapha Mond, and Lenina Crowne, as well as manufactured phrases like Soma, Hypnopaedia, and Bokanovsky's Process, all carry major ideological weight. They are designed to elicit specific historical, philosophical, or scientific associations that add to the novel's overall indictment of modernity, totalitarianism, and consumerism. Translating such names is thus a highly sensitive task that necessitates attention to both linguistic form and cultural context.

The translation of these onomastic units into Azerbaijani poses linguistic and cultural obstacles. Azerbaijani, with its Turkic roots and diverse historical layers of influence (from Persian, Russian, Arabic, and Turkish sources), provides a unique linguistic landscape in which some of Huxley's references may not be immediately apparent. This poses significant questions regarding strategy: Should names be kept in their original form (foreignization), changed to local forms (domestication), or clarified using footnotes and annotations? Each method influences how Azerbaijani readers perceive the book ideologically, artistically, and emotionally.

As a result, the purpose of this study is not only to evaluate translation accuracy, but also to investigate how the functions of these onomastic units are transformed—or preserved—by the translator's choices. The study use both descriptive and theoretical techniques to close the gap between practical translation analysis and the abstract models proposed by scholars such as Hans Vermeer (Vermeer, 1989), Christiane Nord (C., 2005), Lawrence Venuti (Venuti, 2008), and Peter Newmark (P., 1988).

In pursuit of this basic aim, the thesis is directed by the following specific goals:

• Determine the types and roles of onomastic units in the original English text of "Brave New World". This involves categorizing names as anthroponyms, toponyms, ergonyms, created terminology, and ideological slogans, as well as analyzing how each category fits into the novel's narrative and thematic framework.

• *Examine the symbolic and ideological functions of these onomastic units*. This entails deciphering the multiple references hidden in the names and deciding how they fit into Huxley's satirical image of the World State, its institutions, and its population.

• *To investigate the difficulties encountered in translating these units into Azerbaijani.* This includes looking at linguistic, phonological, cultural, and ideological issues and how they were addressed (or not) in the Azerbaijani translation of the work.

• *Examine the Azerbaijani translation using translation theory*. Using frameworks such as Nord's functionalism, Venuti's foreignization/domestication dichotomy, and Newmark's categories of equivalence, the study examines how theoretical ideas are applied or subverted in practice.

• *Propose a taxonomy of the translation strategies used.* Based on the comparative analysis, the thesis creates a typology of translation techniques used in the Azerbaijani version, including transliteration, calque, explicitation, apposition, hybridization, and cultural substitution, and assesses their impact on meaning retention, narrative tone, and reader comprehension.

Collectively, these goals and objectives lay the groundwork for a detailed investigation of how names, as small but powerful units of narrative and ideology, cross linguistic and cultural boundaries through translation. The findings are intended to enrich not only the study of Huxley's work, but also the larger conversation on literary translation, intercultural communication, and the semiotic value of names in fiction.

#### The Scientific Novelty

This study takes an innovative and integrated approach to the study of onomastics in literary translation, focused on the Azerbaijani translation of Aldous Huxley's "Brave New World". While previous research has focused on broader aspects of name translation or ideological discourse in literature, this thesis provides a unique examination of how onomastic units—personal names, institutional titles, neologisms, and ideological slogans—function

- Ρ
- A G E

within a dystopian narrative and how they are treated in cross-linguistic and cross-cultural transfer.

The study's scientific uniqueness stems from its multidisciplinary approach, which combines translation studies, literary theory, and onomastic analysis. It views names not as language artifacts or stylistic choices, but as ideological carriers with historical, political, and cultural implications. This research underlines the need of understanding the deep semantic and symbolic structure of names prior to and during the translation process.

Furthermore, this study presents a formal framework for categorizing translation procedures that are specifically designed for politically loaded onomastic units. This paradigm, based on real-world case studies in Azerbaijani translation, covers tactics such as foreignization, domestication, calque, transliteration, cultural substitution, explicitation, and hybridization. It also outlines the functional ramifications of each technique, making it useful for future research into translations of similarly complex literary materials.

As a result, the thesis provides a replicable framework for examining how ideological and symbolic information in names might be kept, changed, or neutralized during translation. It establishes a new avenue for applied research in literary onomastics and lays the framework for comparative studies across various language pairs, genres, and political circumstances.

#### **Theoretical and Practical Significance**

The current study has significant theoretical and practical implications, particularly in the interdisciplinary intersections of onomastics, translation studies, and literary criticism.

#### **Theoretical Significance**

From a theoretical approach, the study contributes to the scientific knowledge of onomastics as more than a specialized discipline of linguistics. It raises the study of names to the forefront of literary interpretation and translation theory. The study claims that names, particularly in ideologically saturated books like "Brave New World", are semantically loaded symbols that frequently act as ideological markers, intertextual nodes, and narrative devices. By highlighting this viewpoint, the thesis enhances the subject of literary onomastics and emphasizes its interpretive breadth.

P A G

Furthermore, the work adds to current translation theory by demonstrating how name translation reflects larger theoretical tensions between domestication and foreignization (Venuti), semantic and communicative translation (Newmark), and functionally oriented models (Nord). It presents a sophisticated and layered model of onomastic translation that takes into account linguistic, cultural, historical, and ideological components at the same time. This theoretical model serves as a toolkit for scholars researching similar concerns in other literary works.

The study also adds to the growing body of studies focused on translating genre-specific literature, notably dystopian fiction. (Coates, 2006)Dystopian stories are frequently filled with references, irony, and symbolic structures. As a result, this study demonstrates the significance of adjusting translation procedures not only to the linguistic elements of the source and target languages, but also to genre standards, narrative tone, and sociopolitical allegory.

#### **Practical Significance**

Practically, this study provides actual tools and tactics for translators working with ideologically complicated materials. The systematic taxonomy of translation strategies—from transliteration and calque to hybridization and explicitation—helps translators make decisions when faced with similar issues. The framework also includes case-specific examples from the Azerbaijani translation of "Brave New World", which show how theoretical notions are put into practice.

This realistic methodology will help not only literary translators, but also editors, publishers, and educators evaluate translation quality. It outlines a method for determining if a translated name has retained its symbolic, ideological, or narrative role. As a result, this can help to improve quality control in literary publication and inform curriculum development for translation training programs.

The findings could also be valuable for translators working in or from other languages, particularly in areas where political sensitivities or cultural variations influence how ideologically charged information is received. Understanding the methods by which names function symbolically and ideologically allows translators to better adapt such information for their audiences while maintaining the integrity of the original work.

Furthermore, this thesis can serve as a starting point for reader-response analysis, stimulating additional research into how translated names are perceived by diverse audiences.

- P A
- G E

Such studies can help us understand how meaning moves—and sometimes transforms—across linguistic and cultural boundaries.

In conclusion, the theoretical value of this thesis stems from its interdisciplinary synthesis and model building, whilst its practical significance stems from its application to real-world translation issues. The study makes an important contribution to the evolving discussion of literary translation, onomastics, and cultural adaptation by addressing both abstract theory and tangible experience.

#### The Degree of Study

The convergence of onomastics and literary translation is becoming an increasingly important topic of academic research, notably in the study of ideologically and symbolically rich novels like Aldous Huxley's "Brave New World". Numerous researchers have explored the subject from linguistic, semiotic, cultural, and translational perspectives, adding to an expanding body of theoretical and applied research.

Richard Coates (Coates, 2006), Willy Van Langendonck (Van Langendonck, 2007), and Frank Nuessel's (Nuessel, 1992) foundational studies in onomastics focused on the functional, semiotic, and sociolinguistic components of names. Van Langendonck's typology of names, as well as Coates pragmatic approach, demonstrate how names function as referential and symbolic identifiers in literary contexts, frequently loaded with ideological importance. These viewpoints are especially important when studying anthroponyms and ergonyms in dystopian fiction, where naming is frequently employed to reveal or parody sociopolitical institutions.

Peter Newmark (P., 1988)distinguished between semantic and communicative approaches to translating names, while Christiane Nord (Nord, 1997) proposed a functionalist framework in which the Skopos—or purpose—of a translation determines how culturally marked items are treated. Nord's emphasis on text function and reader expectations is particularly relevant when dealing with names that have intertextual or ideological significance.

Lawrence Venuti's (Venuti, 2008) theories of foreignization and domestication have also influenced the theoretical framework of this study. His argument for translation "visibility" and cultural resistance through foreignization is especially relevant in the context of "Brave New World", where sustaining the ideological and symbolic implications of names may necessitate fighting full assimilation into the target culture.

Within cognitive linguistics, George Lakoff and Mark Johnson's (Lakoff, 1980) conceptual metaphors, as well as Langacker's (Langacker, 2008) cognitive grammar, provide a theoretical foundation for understanding how names function not only as linguistic units, but also as cognitive constructs shaped by embodied experience and cultural schemas. These frameworks allow for a more in-depth look at how readers perceive and process manufactured names, ideological slogans, and metaphorical structures in various language and cultural contexts.

In the Azerbaijani academic scene, works on literary onomastics are scarce, with most extant research focusing on descriptive or historical name studies. However, the translation of ideologically rich literature has begun to gain scholarly attention, particularly in works that examine Soviet-era translations and current representations of Western classics. However, few research have explored the translational handling of names in dystopian fiction from a conceptually integrated perspective that includes onomastics, cognitive linguistics, and translation theory.

This study intends to fill a vacuum in the current literature by providing a focused case study on the Azerbaijani translation of "Brave New World", which is based on a synthesis of the theoretical frameworks mentioned above. By examining how personal names, coined terms, and ideological expressions are represented across languages and cultures, the study adds to both literary translation scholarship and the broader area of cognitive onomastics.

#### **Methods of Research**

The methodology of this thesis is based on a qualitative and interpretive approach that incorporates elements from translation studies, literary theory, and onomastics. The study seeks to provide a full knowledge of the procedures used to translate onomastic units from Aldous Huxley's "Brave New World" into Azerbaijani. It accomplishes this by addressing both the textual and contextual aspects of the original and translated texts. This multidisciplinary methodology aims to uncover not just language similarities and differences, but also the ideological and cultural implications of the translation process.

To begin, the investigation methodically identifies all onomastic units in the original text. This includes human names, institutional names, ideological slogans, made-up neologisms, and symbolic titles. These units are then catalogued and classed based on their role and frequency in the narrative. Their linguistic form and symbolic resonance are examined, with a focus on

- P
- A G

intertextual references, historical allusions, and their contribution to world-building within the novel's dystopian setting.

The research focuses on a rigorous contrastive analysis of the English original and its Azerbaijani translation. This comparison goes beyond a word-for-word assessment and includes syntactic, semantic, and pragmatic elements. Each onomastic unit is evaluated based on how its form, function, and symbolic content have been kept, changed, or reinterpreted. This includes examining changes in spelling, phonology, and morphology during translation, as well as adjustments in tone, register, and cultural connotation.

This methodology relies heavily on essential translation strategies such as foreignization, domestication, calque, transliteration, hybridization, and explicitation. These tactics are inspired by well-known translation theorists like Lawrence Venuti (Venuti, 2008), Peter Newmark (P., 1988), and Christiane Nord (Nord, 1997). For each name or naming structure, the approach utilized in the Azerbaijani version is identified and evaluated for its success in retaining narrative coherence and ideological aim. This phase is especially crucial in identifying whether the translation adds to or subtracts from Huxley's original text's satirical and critical tone.

Furthermore, the study looks into the effect of paratextual elements like footnotes, glossaries, and translator's comments in influencing reader interpretation. These added features can play an important role in compensating for cultural or symbolic gaps that may develop during translation. The presence, absence, and quality of these interpretive aids are evaluated to see how they affect accessibility and comprehension for Azerbaijani readers.

To supplement the analysis, the study draws on scholarly evaluations, translation commentary, and available reception statistics from Azerbaijani literary venues and reader communities. Although this is not a fully empirical reader-response study, contextual data can provide insight into how translated names were received by actual readers. It also helps to determine the translation's performance in terms of readability, immersion, and ideological clarity.

In essence, the research methodologies used in this thesis are linked by a common goal: to illuminate the complex decision-making processes that underpin onomastic translation and assess their impact on literary integrity and cultural transmission. Rather than just providing the translation results, the study investigates the reasoning behind each decision and places it

- Ρ
- A
- G E

within larger theoretical and cultural contexts. The end result is a methodologically sound analysis that provides both depth and breadth in its discussion of name translation, and thus meaning translation as well.

#### **Structure of the Thesis**

The thesis consists of an *introduction*, *three main chapters*, *a conclusion*, and *a bibliography*:

Introduction: Defines the relevance, aim, object, subject, novelty, methods, and theoretical basis.

Chapter 1: Theoretical foundations of onomastics and translation.

Chapter 2: In-depth analysis of onomastic units in "Brave New World".

Chapter 3: Translation strategies and comparative analysis of onomastic units in the Azerbaijani version.

Conclusion: Summarizes the key findings and offers recommendations for future study.

Bibliography: Includes both primary and secondary sources across relevant disciplines.

#### **Research Objectives and Significance**

The main objective of this thesis is to explore how the onomastic units in "Brave New World" are rendered in the Azerbaijani translation and to evaluate the impact of these translation choices on the novel's ideological message and literary function. This involves a close examination of the names' original connotations and the ways in which these are preserved, altered, or lost in translation.

The research is guided by several specific questions:

What functions do names serve in "Brave New World", and how are they connected to the novel's themes and ideological critique?

What strategies are used by the Azerbaijani translator when dealing with onomastic units?

To what extent are the cultural, historical, and symbolic meanings of the names retained or transformed?

How do translation choices affect the reader's perception and interpretation of the text in Azerbaijani?

This study is significant for several reasons. First, it contributes to the field of onomastics by examining names not as isolated lexical items but as narrative and ideological tools. Second, it addresses a relatively under-researched area in translation studies: the translation of names with deep symbolic or allusive value. Third, it offers insights into Azerbaijani literary translation practices, highlighting the cultural dynamics involved in rendering Western canonical literature for a different audience.

By focusing on a dystopian text that is heavily loaded with ideological and historical references, the study also engages with broader questions about cross-cultural communication, translation ethics, and the translator's role as a mediator of meaning. It aims to foster a deeper understanding of the interplay between language, culture, and ideology in literary translation.

#### **Theoretical Framework and Methodology**

This study is guided by an interdisciplinary theoretical framework that incorporates findings from onomastics and translation studies. Onomastics researchers such as Richard Coates (Coates, 2006), Frank Nuessel (1992), and Carole Hough (Hough, 2016) have laid the groundwork for understanding the classification, structure, and function of names in language and literature. The analysis of name types in "Brave New World" will be guided by the categorization of names, which include anthroponyms (human names), toponyms (place names), and ergonyms (names of organizations or things).

The paradigm incorporates Lawrence Venuti's concepts of domestication and foreignization, which explain contrasting tactics that a translator may employ: making a book familiar and accessible to the target audience, or retaining its foreignness and original cultural marks. Specific cases will be analyzed using Peter Newmark's classification of proper name translation procedures, which includes transference, naturalization, and descriptive translation. Christiane Nord's functionalist approach, particularly her emphasis on the Skopos (purpose) of translation and the translator's allegiance to both the source and target texts, provides an ethical framework for evaluating the translator's decisions.

The study employs a qualitative, comparative, and text-based approach. First, a group of onomastic units from the original English version of "Brave New World" will be recognized and classified. Then their Azerbaijani counterparts will be discovered and analyzed. Each name will be examined in terms of its structure, meaning, and function in the original text, followed by an assessment of how these features were kept or changed in the translation.

P A G

This analysis will be complemented by careful reading and contextual interpretation, which will consider not only linguistic elements but also historical and cultural allusions. Parallels will be established with different translations of the text when needed to identify patterns or peculiarities. The goal is to grasp the significance of translation procedures for meaning, reception, and cultural transmission, rather than just catalog them.

#### **Scope and Limitations**

This study's scope is both focused and broad enough to provide meaningful findings. It will focus on the onomastic units of "Brave New World", namely anthroponyms (character names), ergonyms (e.g., names of institutions, products, and slogans), and certain neologisms that serve as names. These units will be chosen based on their narrative importance and symbolic value. The analysis will focus on the novel's official Azerbaijani translation, with brief comparison references to other translations (e.g., Russian or Turkish) added for context.

The study is not intended to provide a comprehensive critique or review of the Azerbaijani translation as a whole. Instead, it focuses on the treatment of names, which are sometimes overlooked in larger translation evaluations. Similarly, while theoretical talks will help to enrich the analysis, the focus is on application rather than abstraction.

Certain limits must also be addressed. The availability of translator comments or paratextual material in Azerbaijani may be restricted, making it difficult to identify the translator's aim in certain situations. Furthermore, because literary interpretation is fundamentally subjective, some interpretations will inevitably include some guesswork, albeit supported by textual and theoretical data.

Despite these limitations, the study aims to contribute to ongoing discussions in onomastics and translation studies by providing a detailed and nuanced case study that highlights the complex role of names in literature and the difficulties in translating them across cultural and linguistic boundaries.

> P A G

#### **CHAPTER I. LITERATURE REVIEW**

#### 1.1. Definition, Scope, and Significance of Onomastics

Onomastics, derived from the Greek word onoma meaning "name," is the intellectual study of naming systems across cultures, eras, and languages. It includes the study of names' etymology, structure, societal relevance, symbolic resonance, and practical use. Onomastics is a field that encompasses linguistics, anthropology, history, semiotics, psychology, and literary theory. Modern studies goes beyond simply categorizing names and delves further into how names operate in identity formation, narrative discourse, cultural memory, and political ideology.

Historical Development and Interdisciplinary Roots

Onomastics began as a subfield of historical linguistics and philology, specifically the study of ancient and classical languages. However, the rise of sociolinguistics and critical theory in the twentieth century broadened its horizons. Today, scholars study naming practices within dynamic frameworks that take into account power dynamics, migration, globalization, and digital culture. Names are today considered as semiotic tools that construct, reflect, and occasionally modify social realities in addition to identifying them.

Anthroponymy, or the study of personal names, is possibly the most widely researched branch. It looks at how names are chosen, conveyed, and altered within and between societies. Kinship, religion, gender norms, and class are all factors that influence naming practices. For example, Islamic, Christian, and Turkic traditions all had an impact on Azerbaijani naming conventions, resulting in a multi-layered onomastic landscape.

Toponymy, or the study of place names, demonstrates how geography connects with history and ideology. During political revolutions, cities, streets, and landmarks are frequently renamed, symbolizing a rewriting of cultural memory. Ergonymy, which focuses on institutional or organizational names, reveals branding techniques and ideological messaging in public or commercial arenas.

Names as Identity and Ideology

Names are more than just linguistic labels; they are essential for the development of individual and community identity. In cognitive linguistics and sociolinguistics, names are viewed as symbolic instruments that not only denote but also connote—they carry layers of

- Ρ
- A G

cultural meaning, ideological orientation, and psychological resonance. Naming is a social act influenced by history, custom, power, and intention. It is fundamental to identity formation, social classification, and ideological expression.

Names serve to identify persons within distinct communities and hierarchies. They can indicate ethnicity, gender, religion, class, or political affiliation. For example, many civilizations choose given names based on religious teachings, ancestral legacy, or political symbolism. In postcolonial or post-Soviet nations such as Azerbaijan, naming customs frequently reflect hybrid influences—Turkic, Islamic, Persian, Russian, and increasingly Western. This results in a dynamic onomastic landscape in which names express both continuity and change, resistance and absorption.

Scholars such as Michel Foucault (Foucault, 1972) have addressed the ideological dimension of name, linking it to discursive power relations. According to Foucault, naming is an act of classification and control, allowing institutions to manage identity and impose order. In this sense, names are part of what Althusser (Althusser, 1971) refers to as "ideological state apparatuses"—tools used to naturalize and internalize social and political beliefs.

This is especially visible in bureaucratic systems, where people are recorded, recognized, and grouped by name. In authoritarian regimes, names can be used to obliterate personal histories, impose conformity, or promote ideological icons. For example, during the Soviet era, many people were encouraged—or forced—to adopt Russianized or ideologically acceptable names. In contrast, post-independence periods frequently see a resurrection of indigenous or religious names as a gesture of cultural reclamation and resistance.

In literature, particularly dystopian fiction, this ideological use of names becomes much more apparent. Authors frequently use names to emphasize the loss of human identity or to mock governmental institutions. Aldous Huxley's "Brave New World" provides a striking example: names such as "Bernard Marx" and "Lenina Crowne" are not picked at random, but rather serve as intertextual and ideological references. They combine revolutionary symbolism and sarcasm, prompting readers to consider the hollowness or perversion of those principles in the fictitious world.

Furthermore, names in literary narratives can serve as tools for sarcasm, resistance, or alignment. The character "John the Savage," for example, represents natural human identity against the backdrop of artificial societal training. His surprisingly simple name stands out starkly against the hyper-coded, ideologically filled names of World State inhabitants. Such

examples demonstrate how naming practices in literature mirror greater issues of authenticity, alienation, and power.

Names' ideological and identity-laden nature presents considerable translation issues. Translators must choose whether to keep the original names, risking losing cultural resonance with the target audience, or to alter them, thereby diluting their symbolic importance. As Venuti (1995) argues, translation is inherently a political act—naming decisions are never neutral. Retaining a name may preserve its ideological force, but changing it may expand accessibility while compromising critical significance.

To summarize, names play an important role in how people and cultures build, express, and challenge their identity and ideology. Naming, whether in real life or fiction, is never a matter of convenience; it is a meaningful act with cultural, psychological, and political implications. Understanding names in this broader context is critical for assessing their role in literature and translation, especially in works like "Brave New World", where naming acts as a strategic tool of critique and control.

#### Onomastics in Literature: Function and Form

In literature, onomastics is the deliberate use of names as narrative and symbolic devices, whether they be personal, geographical, institutional, or created. Literary names frequently serve as condensed carriers of meaning in addition to their function as identifiers. They can convey features of characterization, cultural context, ideological attitude, and thematic depth. This functional dimension of names emphasizes their critical role in literary production, as language serves as both a conduit of communication and a tool for generating story perceptions.

From the ancient epics to contemporary dystopian fiction, names in literature have rarely been arbitrary. For example, in classical writings such as Homer's Iliad, names frequently express ancestry, virtue, or fate, placing them within a larger cultural or mythological context. In contemporary writing, names can be employed humorously, metaphorically, or intertextually. Authors like Charles Dickens, George Orwell, and Aldous Huxley have notably used names to sharpen social satire and intensify ideological criticism. Dickens' characters, such as Mr. Gradgrind or Mrs. Jellyby, have names that mock societal types or represent dominant tendencies, but Orwell's Big Brother is a scary symbol of totalitarian surveillance.

The functions of onomastic units in literature can be broadly categorized into the following roles:

P A *Characterization*: Names provide insights into the identity, background, or psychological profile of a character. They may signal ethnicity, class, gender roles, or moral orientation.

*Symbolism*: Many literary names act as metaphors or allegories. A name can embody abstract concepts such as purity, corruption, or resistance. For example, in John Bunyan's Pilgrim's Progress, names like "Faithful" or "Christian" are overt symbolic markers of the character's narrative function.

*Intertextuality and Allusion*: Names often allude to historical, political, or literary figures, creating layers of intertextual meaning. This device deepens the reader's interpretive engagement and enhances the thematic richness of the text.

*World-Building*: Especially in speculative genres like science fiction and fantasy, invented names contribute to the authenticity of the fictional universe. Authors like Tolkien and Le Guin construct entire linguistic systems to support immersive world-building through names alone.

*Irony and Satire*: In satirical or dystopian works, names often function ironically, reflecting the distance between appearance and reality. This is particularly evident in "Brave New World", where characters named after revolutionary figures behave passively or support the very systems their names critique.

According to literary theorist Roland Barthes (Barthes, 1977), names in fiction are more than just referential labels; they are also cultural signifiers. They must be interpreted not just for what they represent, but also for what they imply in a certain sociohistoric context. Names' semiotic function means that translating them into another language presents considerable hurdles in terms of retaining not only form but also connotation and intertextual resonance.

In cognitive literary studies, names are thought to elicit schema-based recognition in the reader's mind. According to Lakoff and Johnson's (Lakoff, 1980) conceptual metaphor theory, names can conjure mental models or prototypes that shape readers' expectations of a character's conduct or thematic role. As a result, the selection and structure of names influence how tales are processed and comprehended cognitively.

Furthermore, literary onomastics is especially important in politically charged writings where names serve as rhetorical devices. In "Brave New World", for example, Huxley's use of names like "Mustapha Mond" or "Lenina Crowne" is not coincidental; these names convey ideological critique, historical irony, and political symbolism. Such applications highlight onomastics' ability to compress and convey complex meanings in a single lexical unit.

P A

In conclusion, the function and form of onomastics in literature demonstrate that names are more than just ornamental or functional features; they are narrative devices. They interact dynamically with other language and stylistic elements to organize meaning, create imaginary worlds, and reveal ideological subtexts. Understanding this functional complexity is critical in literary translation because it preserves the source text's interpretive richness and cultural texture.

#### Onomastics in Translation: A High-Stakes Endeavor

In translation, names become sites of linguistic and cultural negotiation. Translators must determine whether a name should be:

- Retained in its original form (foreignization);
- •Adapted to local phonetics (transliteration);
- Replaced with an equivalent name (domestication);
- Explained via footnotes or glossaries (explicitation);
- Translated for semantic value (calque or descriptive translation).

Each choice impacts the reader's engagement and the preservation of the original work's tone and ideology. The stakes are particularly high when dealing with names that carry intertextual or political significance. The name "Ford" in "Brave New World" is not just a surname—it is a symbol of industrial deification. If the reader misses this connection, an entire layer of satire is lost.

Translators must also navigate the phonotactic systems of the target language. Some English names may be phonetically awkward or semantically misleading in Azerbaijani. In such cases, translators must weigh phonological naturalness against ideological retention. Scholars like Peter Newmark (P., 1988), Lawrence Venuti (2008), and Christiane Nord (Nord, 1997) offer frameworks for making such decisions, often emphasizing context, purpose, and readership expectations.

#### Sociopolitical Implications and Multilingual Contexts

Onomastic practices have significant sociopolitical ramifications, particularly in multilingual and postcolonial communities where names serve as instruments of power, resistance, and cultural negotiation. In such situations, names frequently serve as locations of ideological inscription, indicating inclusion or exclusion, dominance or subordination, memory or erasure. These interactions are especially important in literary translation, where onomastic

units must be translated across languages and cultures with different historical and political paths.

Historically, naming has played an important part in imperial and colonial governance, with the renaming of individuals, places, and organizations used to exert control and shape identities. The Soviet experience, for example, witnessed the deliberate Russification of non-Russian names and the widespread adoption of ideologically motivated naming practices, which spread to Azerbaijan throughout the USSR era. This heritage continues to shape how particular names are seen in contemporary Azerbaijani society, with many holding residual political overtones or evoking communal memories.

In multilingual circumstances, a name's social connotation might vary drastically. A name that conjures up revolutionary aspirations in one language may have humorous, nostalgic, or even neutral meanings in another. For example, in Aldous Huxley's "Brave New World", names like *Lenina"and Marx"*are loaded with ideological sarcasm for an English-speaking audience familiar with the historical and intellectual individuals they refer to. However, for Azerbaijani readers—particularly younger generations who may lack extensive historical knowledge of *Lenin or Marx*—the ideological role of these names may not be immediately obvious unless accompanied by translation tactics such as footnotes or contextual hints.

Furthermore, the multilingual nature of global readerships complicates the translator's job. In a society like Azerbaijan, where Azerbaijani is the state language but Russian, Turkish, and English are also widely spoken, the reception of foreign names varies depending on the reader's linguistic skill and sociopolitical position. A translator must consequently foresee and navigate potential gaps in historical or ideological understanding, all while honoring the source text's aesthetic and narrative integrity.

In this sense, translation becomes a political act rather than a linguistic activity. The decision to keep, adapt, or explain a name entails ideological positioning. According to Venuti (1995), all translations are culturally placed and inevitably influenced by the translator's historical and political environment. In the case of Brave New World, where names are inextricably linked to critiques of authoritarianism, capitalism, and technocracy, onomastic translation has extra weight. A carelessly translated name may flatten or misrepresent the novel's critical voice.

In addition, the translator must consider the linguistic structure of the target language. Foreign names must be adjusted to fit neatly within the syntactic flow of the story in Azerbaijani, which is a Turkic language with its own phonological and morphological rules.

- P A
- G E

However, this modification must be carefully calibrated so that the term does not lose its foreignness or ideological significance. For example, the name *Mustapha Mond*"has both Islamic and European resonances in English. The name *Mustafa Mond*"hay be seen differently in Azerbaijani due to cultural familiarity with *Mustafa*, "thus reducing its hybrid ideological effect unless reinforced by footnotes or paratextual framing.

Furthermore, multilingualism in literature frequently represents the complex identities of people and society. In "Brave New World", the use of English as the dominant language serves as a criticism on linguistic hegemony. Translating such a text into another language, particularly in a postcolonial or post-Soviet context, raises issues of linguistic authority and cultural adaptation. The translator acts as a bridge across ideological realms, determining which components to maintain, which to localize, and which to annotate.

To summarize, the social consequences of onomastic translation are deeply ingrained in the multilingual contexts of both source and destination cultures. Translating "Brave New World" into Azerbaijani requires not only linguistic equivalence but also historical resonance, political awareness, and cultural intelligibility. Onomastic units in such a context are more than just names; they are condensed histories of ideology, memory, and identity.

#### Gender, Religion, and the Politics of Naming

Naming is not a neutral or solely linguistic act; it is profoundly ingrained in cultural structures, ideologies, and power dynamics. Gender and religion are two of the most powerful influences on naming traditions, each with its own set of cultural standards and expectations. These factors influence how people are named, how names are understood, and how names serve as indicators of social identity and control.

#### Gender and Naming

Names communicate not only personal identification, but also gender roles and expectations, beginning at birth. Most societies have distinctly gendered names, and naming is frequently the first formal classification of an individual into a social category. Feminist literature has long criticized the ways in which naming practices reflect and promote patriarchal values. For example, the extensive usage of patronymics (naming systems based on the father's name) emphasizes male lineage while frequently erasing matrilineal identity.

In many cultures, women's surnames change after marriage, representing a shift of identity from the father's to the husband's home. This practice has been seen as a symbolic loss of autonomy, implying that a woman's social identity is based on her interaction with men.

- Ρ
- A G

Men's names, on the other hand, are more likely to remain consistent throughout their lives, suggesting continuity and power.

In literature, these dynamics are frequently emphasized. Female characters' names may represent stereotypes (soft, sensuous, subservient, or exotic), whereas masculine characters' names may connote strength, brilliance, or power. In speculative and dystopian fiction, naming is used to promote or undermine gendered ideals. For example, in Aldous Huxley's "Brave New World", the character *Lenina Crowne* embodies a mix of ideological references: her name refers to *Lenin*, a figure associated with collectivism and revolution, yet her function in the novel is excessively conformist, docile, and sexualized. This contrast exemplifies how names are used to show the gap between social appearance and political content, particularly in terms of gender.

Gendered naming complicates translation. Languages differ in how they encode gender. For example, Azerbaijani does not express gender as explicitly as several Indo-European languages. Thus, a name with strong gender implications in English may become confusing or even deceptive in Azerbaijani unless contextual cues are given.

#### **Religion and Naming**

Religious tradition is another key influence on naming traditions. Names derived from sacred writings, prophets, saints, or religious events indicate religion, cultural identity, and moral aspiration. Muhammad, Ali, and Fatima are popular and treasured names in Islamic cultures, frequently selected for their spiritual importance and link with piety. Similarly, in Christian contexts, names like Mary, John, and Paul have historical and theological significance.

The politics of religious naming is especially important in multicultural and postcolonial cultures, where religious identities collide with issues of national belonging and social integration. During eras of state-imposed secularism, such as in the Soviet Union, religious names were frequently prohibited or changed to adhere to ideological norms. In contrast, the post-Soviet resurrection of traditional and religious names in nations such as Azerbaijan indicates a return to spiritual and cultural identity.

In translation, preserving a name's religious connotations is critical to maintaining the original's symbolic depth. In "Brave New World", the name *Mustapha Mond* refers to both authoritarian rationality (*Mond* = world) and *Islamic ancestry* (*Mustapha*). In the Azerbaijani context, where Islamic names are both familiar and venerated, this name may have distinct

- P A
- G

associations—possibly invoking respect rather than sarcastic critique—unless further interpretive framing is offered.

#### Naming as Political Discourse

Gender and religion are linked to the politics of naming, in which names are used to impose, oppose, or alter identity. Governments, religious institutions, and social movements frequently support certain naming conventions to achieve ideological aims. Naming rules, for example, may limit the use of specific names, maintain linguistic purity, or promote patriotic naming. In feminist and postcolonial literature, name (or renaming) is frequently used as a form of resistance—a means of reclaiming identity, rewriting history, or subverting prevailing narratives.

In literary translation, the translator must carefully navigate these ideological layers. Translating a religious or gender-coded name requires both linguistic transfer and cultural negotiation. The translator must consider whether this name would resonate similarly in the target culture. Does it strengthen or weaken its intended role in the narrative? Should it be explained, modified, or kept unchanged?

#### Onomastics in Digital and Commercial Domains

In modern linguistics, the study of onomastics has evolved beyond traditional literary, cultural, and geographical naming traditions to include digital and commercial contexts. Names in these domains are no longer only identifiers or cultural symbols; they are also potent instruments for branding, visibility, consumer manipulation, and digital identity formation. This expansion of onomastics into the digital and commercial spheres has important implications for literary analysis and translation practice, particularly in the context of speculative and dystopian literature, where invented names frequently mimic corporate branding and technological language.

In the digital age, names function as gateways to personal and corporate identities. Onomastic expressiveness takes many forms, including social media handles, usernames, website domains, hashtags, and branding slogans. These digital names are frequently designed to be brief, memorable, and algorithm-friendly, combining semantic meaning with phonetic appeal. Corporate naming techniques in the commercial sector include considerable research into consumer psychology, semiotics, and linguistic appeal, resulting in names that are intended to inspire trust, prestige, excitement, or familiarity in addition to identification.

> P A G

This growth of name is strongly related to Aldous Huxley's innovative onomastic selections in "Brave New World", where many phrases reflect a commercial or mechanistic logic. For example, the term *Soma*'tefers to a fictional medicine used to pacify citizens, and its shortness, phonetic smoothness, and lack of semantic transparency are reminiscent of real-world pharmaceutical branding. Similarly, *Feelies*''invokes consumer entertainment products with playful morphology and phonosemantics—an invented term that serves as a catchy commercial name. These names are not only ideologically significant, but also linguistically designed to reflect the commercial register of modern capitalism.

In translation, putting such names into languages like Azerbaijani provides a challenge: the translator must determine whether to keep the created form, localize it, or provide clarification. Azerbaijani consumers are also exposed to global branding and internet culture, so they are accustomed with short, catchy, Western-sounding product names. However, linguistic alteration is frequently required to maintain the term's euphonic sound while still preserving its ideological function. Translating *Feelies"as Hisslər"*preserves sense but loses stylistic humor; inventing a regional neologism such as "Hissfilmlər" or "Hissimanşet" may better balance form and function.

Digital onomastics also influences reader perception. Names in the online and media domains have high associative value; readers skilled in digital semiotics perceive branding and slogan-like names as indicators of identity, ideology, or consumer orientation. In dystopian fiction, where state ideology is frequently represented via slogans and organizations, naming tactics are crucial to world-building. Names like *Central London Hatchery and Conditioning Centre* 'mock bureaucratic and corporate institutional nomenclature as lengthy, impersonal, and too utilitarian. These characteristics are reflected in real-world name standards found in governmental forms and technology platforms.

From a cognitive linguistic standpoint, such names influence reader interpretation via conceptual framing. They activate schemas associated to corporatism, control, and mass production, which are consistent with the novel's dystopian critique. It is critical to maintain the framing effect during translation. The challenge is to maintain the tone—clinical, industrial, impersonal—without alienating the intended reader linguistically.

In Azerbaijan, where post-Soviet bureaucratic language coexists with increasing exposure to global commercial language, this dichotomy must be carefully negotiated. Translators must determine if expressions like *İnkubator və Tərbiyə Mərkəzi*'convey the same

sense of institutional estrangement as the original. Paratextual or stylistic changes may be required to guarantee that the translated name elicits the desired conceptual connotations.

Furthermore, digital naming practices pose concerns regarding the longevity and propagation of names. In digital archives, internet platforms, and social media, names become data points that may be searched, tracked, and monetized. Translating dystopian names into such a setting, especially if the work is being published digitally, adds a new dimension to the translator's job: assuring discoverability and resonance in the digital marketplace.

To summarize, the digital and commercial worlds provide unique insights into how names function today—as semiotic commodities and narrative devices. Names in literature, particularly in speculative fiction such as "Brave New World", serve to criticize ideological control and consumerism. Translators must consider these names not only as textual objects, but also as culturally located, cognitively loaded, and commercially appealing phrases. Successful translation into Azerbaijani necessitates attention to linguistic rhythm, socio-cultural expectations, and the changing semantics of digital and commercial onomastics.

By tracing the evolution of onomastics from a subfield of historical linguistics to an interdisciplinary area engaging with semiotics, discourse theory, and cognitive linguistics, this chapter underscores the complexity of naming as both a linguistic and cultural act. Whether in anthroponyms, toponyms, ergonyms, or invented terms, names in literature are revealed as carriers of connotation, irony, allusion, and intertextual significance. This is particularly evident in dystopian and speculative fiction, where naming becomes a mechanism of world-building and ideological critique.

The discussion on "Names as Identity and Ideology" highlighted how names operate not only as narrative tools but as reflections of power structures, resistance, and cultural values. Through examples drawn from literature and political history, it was shown that naming practices can enforce authority or subvert it, confirm identity or erase it. This dynamic is highly relevant in analyzing the names in Huxley's "Brave New World", where every name carries symbolic and ideological resonance.

The section on "Sociopolitical Implications and Multilingual Contexts" emphasized the cultural specificity of naming conventions and how they evolve across languages, especially in postcolonial, post-Soviet, or globalized societies. In the Azerbaijani context—marked by a confluence of Turkic, Persian, Russian, Islamic, and Western influences—names are not only linguistic units but ideological markers. This multilayered reality necessitates a sensitive approach when translating ideologically charged names from English into Azerbaijani.

P A G

Additionally, the examination of "Gender, Religion, and the Politics of Naming" and "Digital and Commercial Onomastics" revealed that names are shaped by forces such as patriarchy, religious tradition, media culture, and corporate branding. These forces inform how names are received, interpreted, or manipulated in both literature and real life. The increasingly digital and commodified environment in which readers encounter texts today reinforces the importance of understanding names as functional and symbolic elements of discourse.

Thus, the theoretical exploration in Chapter 1 provides a conceptual framework for the practical analyses that follow. It prepares the ground for investigating how onomastic elements in "Brave New World" are rendered into Azerbaijani, what translation strategies are employed, and how effectively they preserve or recontextualize the ideological and symbolic meaning of the original. In doing so, the chapter affirms the central premise of this study: that the translation of names is not a secondary concern, but a vital component of narrative integrity and cultural transference.

#### 1.2 Onomastic Units and Their Role in Literary Translation

Onomastic units refer to all types of names and naming expressions used within a literary text. These include a wide variety of elements that serve different linguistic, cultural, and narrative purposes. In literary studies, onomastic units are not merely stylistic ornaments or incidental components—they are central to how stories are told, characters are understood, and ideologies are communicated.

In general, onomastic units can be classified into the following categories:

*Anthroponyms*: These are personal names, including first names, surnames, and nicknames. In literature, anthroponyms often signal character roles, psychological traits, social class, or ideological alignment. For example, a name like *Bernard Marx* in "Brave New World" immediately signals political and philosophical associations to readers familiar with Karl Marx.

*Toponyms*: Place names serve as markers of geographical space, but also cultural, political, and historical allusion. Fictional toponyms, especially in dystopian and speculative fiction, often mirror real-world locations with satirical or symbolic intent.

*Ergonyms*: These include names of institutions, organizations, and fictional technologies. In Huxley's world, names like The Central London Hatchery and Conditioning Centre function both as narrative setting and ideological apparatus.

*Theonyms*: Names of deities or religious figures—real or invented—often carry moral or philosophical meaning. In "Brave New World", *Our Ford* replaces Our Lord, indicating the industrial deification of Henry Ford.

*Neologisms and invented names*: These are entirely fictional constructions that often combine familiar linguistic roots with imaginative innovation. Examples like Hypnopaedia or Feelies demonstrate Huxley's use of naming as a tool for satire and speculative realism.

*Slogans and mottos:* These are ideologically charged phrases that operate as onomastic markers within fictional systems. Phrases like "*Community, Identity, Stability*" are not just political messaging but naming mechanisms that shape social consciousness.

Each of these types performs multiple functions simultaneously: naming and identifying, signaling genre or tone, anchoring ideological critique, and building fictional worlds. In the context of translation, these units become particularly significant because they often resist one-to-one equivalence and demand interpretive engagement.

#### Literary Function of Onomastic Units

In literary texts, names are rarely arbitrary. They are deliberate choices made by authors to enhance the richness and depth of their narratives. Onomastic units carry literary functions that go far beyond mere identification; they help structure the fictional world, shape character psychology, and embed socio-political commentary. This is particularly true in dystopian literature, where names are often saturated with irony, allegory, and ideological undertones.

#### Characterization

One of the most obvious functions of onomastic units is to aid in characterization. Names often reflect a character's personality traits, moral standing, or social function. For instance, in "Brave New World", the name "*Bernard Marx*" creates an immediate association with Karl Marx, signaling the character's potential as a subversive thinker. However, Huxley ironically undermines this expectation—*Bernard* is indecisive and self-absorbed, thereby turning the allusion into a critique of intellectual weakness under authoritarian regimes.

#### Symbolism

Names often act as symbols that point to larger abstract ideas. In speculative fiction, names are frequently used to represent ideological constructs or historical ironies. For example, *"Lenina Crowne"* blends allusions to both *Vladimir Lenin* and *British royalty*—symbols of

collectivism and monarchical power, respectively. This fusion mirrors the paradox of the World State, which preaches equality while enforcing hierarchy.

#### Intertextuality

Onomastic units often carry intertextual references—nods to historical figures, literary characters, philosophical ideas, or cultural phenomena. These references add layers of meaning and invite the reader into a dialogue with other texts and ideologies. Huxley's *"Mustapha Mond,"* for example, references Islamic heritage (Mustapha) and the world (Mond = "world" in French/German), implying global governance and philosophical authority.

#### World-Building

Invented names are vital for constructing believable fictional worlds, especially in science fiction and dystopian genres. Terms like "*Bokanovsky's Process*," "*Neo-Pavlovian Conditioning*," and "*Hypnopaedia*" lend scientific credibility and immersive texture to Huxley's society. These names mimic real-world naming conventions in psychology and technology, making the fiction feel disturbingly plausible.

#### Satire and Irony

In many cases, names are used to satirize real ideologies, leaders, or systems. "Benito Hoover" satirically merges Benito Mussolini and Herbert Hoover, two figures associated with fascism and economic collapse. Such names are layered with critique, mocking the blind fusion of authoritarian control and capitalist rhetoric.

#### **Ideological Framing**

Finally, names and slogans serve as tools of ideological framing within the narrative. They define and reinforce the values of the fictional world. Slogans like *"Everyone belongs to everyone else"* are not just background phrases—they are active onomastic elements that shape the moral code of characters and signal the dehumanizing ethos of the World State.

In summary, onomastic units in literature are integral to the narrative structure, thematic development, and ideological positioning of a text. They are crafted with precision to influence how readers perceive and interpret the fictional universe. For the translator, these units pose both an opportunity and a challenge—how to recreate such densely layered meaning in a different language and cultural context without losing the original's intent.

Translation Challenges

P A

Translating onomastic units from one language and culture to another is a hard and delicate task. Names, unlike conventional lexical elements, are typically difficult to translate because they have distinctive historical, cultural, symbolic, or phonetic values. Literary translation, particularly in ideologically complex genres such as dystopian fiction, carries even higher implications. Onomastic units in "Brave New World" are more than just decorative; they are structural elements with philosophical, political, and narrative significance. As a result, the translator must carefully manage various levels of complexity to guarantee that the names are intelligible in the target language.

#### Linguistic Barriers

Certain names in English are phonologically and morphologically unfamiliar to Azerbaijani readers. Names such as "*Helmholtz*" or "*Watson*" may be difficult to pronounce or process due to their unusual sound combinations, lack of native analogs, or consonant clusters that are not typical in Azerbaijani. Moreover, the agglutinative structure of Azerbaijani requires suffixes for grammatical relationships, which may conflict with foreign name structures.

#### Cultural Allusions and Gaps

Many onomastic units in "Brave New World" refer to figures from Western intellectual, political, and industrial history—"*Karl Marx, Vladimir Lenin, Henry Ford, Benito Mussolini, Herbert Hoover*". While these names are familiar to some Azerbaijani readers, their symbolic connotations might not be as immediately accessible or may carry different associations due to the post-Soviet context. The translator must decide whether to preserve the original name, adapt it, or supplement it with explanatory notes.

#### Ideological Sensitivities

Some names can evoke ideological controversy or historical trauma. For instance, preserving a name like "*Marx*" might trigger politically charged interpretations in Azerbaijan, where Soviet history is still a sensitive topic. The translator must be cautious not to ignite unintended ideological responses, especially in texts distributed through public or educational institutions.

#### Semantic Saturation and Intertextual Meaning

Names like "Mustapha Mond" and "Lenina Crowne" are ideologically saturated and intertextually rich. Their meaning goes beyond mere reference; they function as symbols of totalitarianism, rationalism, and authoritarian modernity. Translating these names requires

- P A
- G E

retaining their ideological power while making their symbolic resonance intelligible for Azerbaijani readers. This may involve a blend of phonetic rendering, cultural adaptation, and paratextual explanation.

#### Speculative Neologisms

Names of fictional processes or technologies—"*Bokanovsky's Process, Hypnopaedia, Soma, Malthusian Drill"*—pose unique challenges. They sound quasi-scientific in English, often echoing real academic or technical vocabulary. In Azerbaijani, they must sound similarly plausible while retaining their invented, dystopian edge. The translator may need to invent new terms that reflect both semantic intent and stylistic tone.

#### Functional Equivalence vs. Literal Fidelity

There is often a tension between staying faithful to the form of the original name and preserving its function in the target language. A literal rendering may fail to communicate the ideological or satirical intent of the name, while a creative adaptation risks distorting the author's voice. For example, translating *"Community, Identity, Stability"* word-for-word may capture the basic meaning but not the rhetorical force of the slogan as used in propaganda. Finding a culturally resonant equivalent is essential.

#### Reader Reception and Cognitive Load

Cognitive linguistics emphasizes the significance of reader processing and schema activation. A name that is excessively alien or lacking in semantic signals may break the reader's immersion in the narrative. However, over-domesticating a name can lessen its narrative tension and political relevance. The translator must strike a balance between maintaining cognitive coherence and promoting ideological reflection.

Given these problems, translating onomastic units entails reinventing how that term might work in a new linguistic and cultural system while retaining its thematic, symbolic, and ideological importance. It necessitates extensive knowledge of not only the source and target languages, but also literature, history, politics, and cultural psychology.

#### Strategy in Context

When approaching the translation of onomastic units, no single strategy fits all contexts. The decision-making process must account for a variety of textual, cultural, and functional factors. Translation theory provides a range of strategies, from literal to interpretative, each with

distinct implications. The effectiveness of these strategies depends on the translator's goals, the expectations of the target audience, and the narrative function of the name in question.

Retention (Foreignization)

This technique entails keeping the original name in its English form, with little or no phonetic or orthographic changes. Retention is particularly acceptable when the name has symbolic or intertextual significance based on its initial appearance. For example, names like Bernard Marx or Ford have strong ideological meanings that may be lost if translated or localized. Following Lawrence Venuti's (1995) call for foreignization, preserving such titles allows readers to immediately engage with the foreign culture, sparking thought and stressing the text's ideological otherness. However, this method may alienate readers who are unfamiliar with the cultural or historical backdrop.

#### Transliteration

Phonetic rendering of the name into the target language's writing system—commonly used when the original name is neither semantically meaningful nor ideologically loaded. In Azerbaijani, names like "*Lenina*" are transliterated as "*Lenina*", preserving phonetic similarity while respecting the structure of the target script. Transliteration is particularly useful for invented names or minor characters whose names function mainly as labels. However, transliteration alone can obscure cultural or metaphorical dimensions unless supplemented by additional context.

#### Semantic Translation (Calque or Descriptive Rendering)

This method translates the meaning of a name rather than its form. It is typically applied to names that are descriptive or ideologically saturated, such as slogans or invented terms. For example, "*Hypnopaedia*" may be translated as "*Yuxuda öyrənmə*", a calque that communicates the concept directly. According to Peter Newmark (1988), this communicative approach increases intelligibility, especially when the name functions as part of the plot's exposition. However, this strategy may sacrifice the stylistic tone or invented quality of the original.

Domestication (Substitution with Target-Culture Equivalent)

In this approach, a foreign name is replaced with one that has similar connotations in the target culture. This is less common in translating literary onomastics but may be used to align names with familiar social roles, especially in children's literature or popular media. Domestication risks erasing the ideological charge embedded in names, as in the case of

changing Mustapha Mond to a more neutral or culturally assimilated alternative. It may also conflict with authorial intent and reader expectations in a literary or academic context.

#### Apposition and Clarifying Explication

An effective strategy when names are retained but risk misunderstanding. The translator provides a brief explanation either within the text or as a footnote. For instance, "Our Ford (Henry Ford, the founder of the assembly line)" could appear in parentheses upon first mention. This method upholds the integrity of the original name while enhancing reader comprehension. Christiane Nord (2005) supports such functional transparency when the skopos—or purpose—of the translation requires educational or informative framing.

#### Hybridization

Combining transliteration with semantic explanation or suffixation to fit the grammatical structure of the target language. For example, "*Bokanovsky's Process*" becomes "*Bokanovski prosesi*" or "*Bokanovski üsulu*", blending the proper noun with an Azerbaijani grammatical ending. Hybrid forms preserve the invented quality of the term while situating it within Azerbaijani syntax. This is particularly effective for science-fiction neologisms and institutional terms.

#### Paratextual Strategies (Footnotes, Glossaries, Prefaces)

When a name's symbolic or historical meaning is too obscure for the average reader, the translator may use footnotes or endnotes to provide necessary background. This strategy is often employed in academic or annotated editions and supports the foreignization approach by making cultural and ideological references accessible. Gérard Genette (Genette, 1997) emphasized the role of paratext in shaping interpretation, and this is especially true for ideologically loaded names.

#### Visual or Rhythmic Adaptation

For slogans and mottos that rely on brevity and rhythm (e.g., Community, Identity, Stability), the translator may prioritize reproducing their rhetorical effect over literal fidelity. This involves balancing semantic equivalence with phonological resonance, ensuring that the translated slogan sounds equally persuasive and ideological in Azerbaijani. Functional equivalence, in this case, may outweigh lexical transparency.

Finally, each translation approach has advantages and limitations. Effective translation of onomastic units necessitates awareness to context, function, and audience, as well as a strong

P A

foundation in both linguistic understanding and literary interpretation. Translators must inquire, "What role does this name play in the story?" What cultural associations does it evoke? And how will it sound in the target language? The answers to these questions will guide a translation that is contextually suitable, ideologically faithful, and reader-friendly.

#### **Cross-Cultural Examples**

In Russian translations of dystopias, translators often preserve names while relying on heavily footnoted editions. In Turkish translations, partial domestication is more common, especially in children's literature. In French literary translation, ideological names are often retained, reflecting France's translation norms that emphasize fidelity to authorial tone.

#### The Translator's Dilemma: Faithfulness vs. Fluency

The translator walks a tightrope between fidelity to the source text and the readability of the target text. This dilemma is particularly sharp in translating fiction that uses names to signal satire or political critique. The wrong choice may distort the author's intent or render the passage ineffective.

Newmark (1988) suggests that the translation of names should be context-dependent and not dictated by a single rigid approach. Venuti (2008) urges translators to resist total domestication, viewing foreignization as an ethical stance that respects cultural difference. Nord (2005) recommends tailoring strategies to Skopos—the goal and function of the translation—especially when ideological fidelity is a priority.

#### Reception and Reader Comprehension

According to reception theory, how readers receive names shapes their interpretation of textual topics. Cognitive linguistics research has shown that unusual or complex names might reduce emotional engagement. Conversely, well-translated names can improve immersion and interpretation.

When translating "Brave New World" into Azerbaijani, if names like *Helmholtz Watson*" *or Bokanovsky's Process* "are kept but not explained, readers may miss out on the philosophical and ideological criticism encoded in these names. Paratextual aid (footnotes, glossaries, prefaces) can help bridge comprehension gaps.

Morphological Analysis and Phonetic Adjustment

Many English names have suffixes or constructions that are alien to Azerbaijani phonology. Names ending in -tz, -sch, or beginning with silent letters may confuse Azerbaijani

- P A
- G E

readers. Phonetic adjustment (e.g., "Kraun" for "Crowne") aligns with Azerbaijani pronunciation norms, easing fluency without entirely erasing the foreign origin.

Morphologically, compound or synthetic names (like "Hypnopaedia") may need to be rendered as hybrid or analytic forms in Azerbaijani (e.g., "yuxuda öyrədilmə"). This process enhances understanding while retaining semantic content.

Invented Names and Science Fiction Lexicon

In speculative fiction, invented names often signal conceptual novelty. "Soma," "Feelies," and "Hypnopaedia" are neologisms that encapsulate Huxley's critique of pleasuredriven society. These terms have no direct equivalents in Azerbaijani. Retention with slight adjustment, supported by in-text or paratextual clarification, preserves both the speculative tone and philosophical depth.

In fantasy literature, coined names frequently include phonosemantic devices associations based on sound. For instance, *Tolkien's names* for *Elvish characters* suggest elegance through vowel harmony and soft consonants. Translators must understand these devices and replicate their effect rather than just the literal form.

#### Gender, Power, and Name Construction

Some names encode gendered assumptions. Names like "Fanny Crowne" carry not only personal identity but cultural connotation, including sexual innuendo. Translators must assess whether such implications exist in the target language and whether they align with the character's role.

Power relations are also reflected in names. In Huxley's novel, *World Controllers* have majestic or ideologically charged names. Their titles and surnames denote control, authority, and intellectual dominance. Rendering these accurately in translation is essential for preserving narrative hierarchy.

#### Political Censorship and Ideological Filtering

In some sociopolitical contexts, names that evoke controversial ideologies or religions may be censored or altered. During the Soviet era, Western names were often changed to neutral or local equivalents. Contemporary Azerbaijani translators face fewer overt restrictions but may still need to consider national sensibilities or potential misinterpretations.

For example, translating *"Marx"* might evoke unintended political sensitivity. In such cases, editorial discretion may lead to paratextual clarification rather than modification of the name itself.

#### Translator Commentary and Case Studies

Some translators include forewords or footnotes to justify their approach to onomastic units. In the Azerbaijani translation of "Brave New World", Ülviyyə Mütəllimova retains the majority of names but adds minor orthographic adjustments. However, no comprehensive translator's commentary is provided, leaving readers to infer meanings unaided.

Case studies of other translated works show a trend toward hybridization—maintaining form while providing occasional clarification. In Turkish and Persian versions, some names are fully adapted; in German translations, the preference leans toward retention and paratextual guidance.

In literature, onomastic units can be used as narrative tools, ideological markers, or interpretive signals. Their translation necessitates a complex, case-by-case approach that balances linguistic accuracy, cultural sensitivity, narrative clarity, and ideological consistency. The treatment of names, whether by retention, substitution, or explanation, influences not only how readers interact with the book, but also how they perceive its themes and critiques.

In "Brave New World", Huxley's dystopian vision revolves around the onomastic system. Translating these components into Azerbaijani while keeping their symbolic, political, and intertextual functions is a high-risk endeavor. The next sections will look in depth at how these tactics were implemented in the Azerbaijani version and evaluate their efficiency in bridging cultural and ideological gaps. The Meaning of Names in Huxley's "Brave New World".

#### 1.3. The Relevance of Names in Huxley's "Brave New World"

Aldous Huxley's "Brave New World" is a paradigmatic example of the literary use of onomastic units for ideological critique. The novel constructs a satirical vision of a hypercontrolled, hedonistic society where individuality is suppressed, and cultural memory is erased. Names are central to this construction—they reference real historical figures, hint at ideological frameworks, and serve as tools for irony and critique.

*"Bernard Marx"* references Karl Marx and George Bernard Shaw. However, Bernard is not a revolutionary figure—he is weak, self-pitying, and ultimately conformist. This ironic contrast between name and character exposes the failures of intellectual resistance within totalitarian systems.

- P A
- G E
*Lenina Crowne* juxtaposes Leninist collectivism with royal symbolism. The name encapsulates the paradox of a society that abolishes individuality while centralizing control.

*Mustapha Mond* combines Islamic heritage ("Mustapha") and globalist ideology ("Mond" meaning "world" in French and German). His name signals both authoritarian rule and cosmopolitan rationality.

*Helmholtz Watson* alludes to scientific legacy and behaviorist psychology, reflecting his role as an intellectual who questions societal values.

*Benito Hoover* blends Benito Mussolini and Herbert Hoover, satirizing both fascism and ineffective capitalism.

Institutional names like "*The Central London Hatchery and Conditioning Centre*", and euphemisms like "*Pregnancy Substitute and Feelies*", reflect the bureaucratic dehumanization at the heart of Huxley's dystopia. Slogans like "*Community, Identity, Stability*" are onomastic elements in their own right, acting as ideological slogans meant to indoctrinate citizens.

In the Azerbaijani translation, the names are largely preserved with minor orthographic adjustments. This strategy aligns with Venuti's (2008) concept of foreignization. However, preserving the form does not guarantee that the cultural or ideological allusions will be understood by the target audience. For example, unless a reader is familiar with Ford's role in American industrialism, the deification of *"Our Ford"* may not register as satire. The translator's challenge is to maintain the ideological load while enhancing reader comprehension, sometimes through paratextual strategies.

Soma, Hypnopaedia, and Bokanovsky's Process are neologisms that play crucial roles in world-building. Their translations in Azerbaijani—such as "hipnopediya" or "Soma" (unchanged)—demonstrate an effort to preserve their speculative flavor. Yet their deeper meanings may require footnotes or contextual reinforcement, especially for terms with roots in classical or Vedic traditions.

#### **1.4. Theoretical Integration: Onomastics within Translation Studies**

The translation of names bridges the gap between linguistic transfer and cultural interpretation. As Hermans (Hermans, 1998) notes, names are often treated as untranslatables, yet they demand translation when they serve narrative or symbolic functions. The translator must assess not just how to render the name, but whether to foreground its foreignness or embed it within the reader's cultural framework.

Venuti (2008) emphasizes that translation decisions are never ideologically neutral. A foreignizing approach resists domestication and preserves the source culture's distinctiveness. A domesticating approach seeks fluency and reader comfort, sometimes at the expense of ideological clarity. For onomastic translation, this tension is acute: preserving the name may confuse, while adapting it may dilute its political charge.

Nord (C., 2005) offers a solution through Skopos theory, suggesting that translation decisions should be guided by purpose. If the goal is ideological education, explanatory strategies may be favored. If aesthetic fidelity is the aim, phonetic preservation and rhythmic equivalence may take precedence. The translator must navigate these goals in accordance with the expectations of both the author and the audience.

Newmark (P., 1988) advocates for compensatory strategies when a name's symbolic or historical reference is lost. In such cases, annotation or contextual reinforcement may be necessary to preserve narrative coherence. For instance, footnoting "Ford" as a cultural icon of industrial capitalism helps Azerbaijani readers appreciate the religious satire embedded in "Our Ford."

Ultimately, the translation of onomastic units reveals the translator's dual role: linguistic craftsman and cultural mediator. Their choices determine not just lexical fidelity but also the ideological depth and interpretive richness of the translated text.

The subsequent chapters will apply these theoretical principles to a comparative analysis of the onomastic units in "Brave New World" and its Azerbaijani translation, evaluating the strategies used and their implications for cross-cultural literary reception.

# **Chapter II. METHODLOGY**

## 2.1 Naming Conventions and Classification in the Original Text

Aldous Huxley's "Brave New World" is a novel in which naming is not only an element of world-building but a primary vehicle for the transmission of meaning, ideology, and satire. Huxley's dystopia is populated by characters, places, and institutions whose names have been carefully curated to evoke historical allusions, critique socio-political systems, and reflect the ideological structure of the World State. In this section, we will explore the naming conventions used throughout the original English text, classify the types of onomastic units present, and analyze the broader implications of these conventions for the narrative structure and thematic concerns of the novel.

In "Brave New World", Aldous Huxley constructs a dystopian universe through the strategic use of names that are far from arbitrary. The novel's onomastic system is densely layered with historical allusions and ideological references that serve both narrative and satirical functions. This deliberate naming functions as a form of *ideological indexing*—an implicit coding of meaning, where each name evokes associations with specific socio-political ideologies, cultural values, or historical events.

One of the most prominent examples is *Bernard Marx*, whose name directly references *Karl Marx*, the founder of Marxist theory. However, the irony lies in the character's lack of revolutionary spirit. Bernard is self-absorbed, insecure, and ultimately conforms to the very system his name theoretically opposes. This *symbolic inversion* serves as a critique of failed resistance and the commodification of dissent. His surname indexes a revolutionary ideology, but his character embodies passivity—reflecting how radical ideals can be absorbed and neutralized by authoritarian systems.

Similarly, *Lenina Crowne* alludes to *Vladimir Lenin*, the founder of the Soviet Union, while "Crowne" evokes regal or aristocratic power. This juxtaposition illustrates a thematic paradox within the World State: a society that professes equality and collective harmony but in reality enforces rigid hierarchies and consumerist elitism. Lenina, as a character, reflects conformity rather than rebellion; her name indexes both communist and monarchical imagery, highlighting the *ideological contradictions* of the State's rhetoric.

*Mustapha Mond*, another key figure, draws his first name from Islamic tradition ("Mustapha" meaning "the chosen one") and his surname from the French and German word

P A

for "world" ("le monde" / "die Welt"). His name reflects the *synthesis of Eastern and Western philosophies*, portraying him as a global authority figure whose role combines scientific rationalism with spiritual detachment. The historical allusion here positions Mond as a philosopher-king—echoing figures like Plato's ideal ruler—while also critiquing technocratic control and the suppression of free thought.

Even minor characters such as *Benito Hoover* reflect layered allusions. Benito references *Benito Mussolini*, the Italian fascist dictator, while Hoover nods to *Herbert Hoover*, the U.S. president associated with economic instability. The name thus encapsulates a critique of both fascist authoritarianism and capitalist failure—two pillars of 20th-century political discourse that inform Huxley's imagined future. These names act as *intertextual signals*, encouraging readers to draw connections between Huxley's fictional society and real-world ideologies.

Through this dense web of historical references, Huxley constructs a *semiotic system* in which names are ideologically charged and historically resonant. This system acts as a form of *literary coding*, inviting readers to decode the political and cultural implications embedded in each name. Such allusions are not just aesthetic; they serve as an integral part of the world-building process, providing subtext, irony, and critical commentary.

From a cognitive linguistic perspective, these names function as *mental models*—schemas that trigger specific conceptual frames in the reader's mind. When readers encounter the name "Marx," for example, they are likely to activate associations with socialism, revolution, class struggle, and historical materialism. This *conceptual anchoring* helps structure the reader's understanding of the character and situates the narrative within a broader ideological landscape.

In translation, preserving these allusions becomes a key challenge. Without adequate cultural background, the Azerbaijani reader may not grasp the ideological nuance that names like "Lenina" or "Ford" imply. Thus, the role of the translator includes *ideological mediation*— deciding whether to retain the name, adapt it, or supplement it with explanatory tools to maintain the symbolic function. As Venuti (1995) and Nord (C., 2005) argue, this process goes beyond linguistic fidelity and requires cultural competence, narrative awareness, and ethical judgment.

In summary, the names in "Brave New World" are not neutral. They are *ideological indexes*—tools through which Huxley encodes his satirical critique of modernity, authoritarianism, and mass culture. Their translation requires not just linguistic skill but a nuanced understanding of their historical and cultural valence.

P A G

Huxley introduces scientific and institutional neologisms that operate as onomastic units. Names like *Hypnopaedia, Bokanovsky's Process, and Soma* serve dual roles: they are technical jargon within the narrative and carry ideological meaning. *Soma,* "for instance, references ancient rituals and modern pharmacology, simultaneously suggesting transcendence and sedative compliance. These names are phonetically simple and euphemistic, designed to lull both characters and readers into complacency.

In literary texts—particularly in speculative and dystopian fiction such as "Brave New World"—onomastic units go far beyond the conventional function of identifying characters or places. They are carefully crafted semiotic devices, often charged with cultural, ideological, psychological, or intertextual meaning. Aldous Huxley employs a rich variety of such naming mechanisms throughout his novel, creating a deeply layered narrative that reflects and critiques the society he depicts. To fully appreciate how naming operates in this context, it is essential to develop a comprehensive typology of onomastic units present in the novel.

Anthroponyms are perhaps the most prominent type of onomastic unit in the novel. These include names of central and secondary characters, many of which are based on historical, political, or ideological figures. For example:

- •Bernard Marx (Karl Marx)
- •Lenina Crowne (Lenin + imperial imagery)
- Mustapha Mond (Mustapha Kemal Atatürk + "mond" meaning "world")
- •Helmholtz Watson (Hermann von Helmholtz + John B. Watson)
- Benito Hoover (Benito Mussolini + Herbert Hoover)

These names serve dual functions: they identify characters and also act as intertextual signals that critique ideologies such as communism, capitalism, fascism, scientism, and utilitarianism. Huxley's anthroponyms form a symbolic architecture through which the reader can interpret character roles, moral ambiguity, or ideological collapse.

## 2. Toponyms (Place Names)

Place names, or toponyms, in "Brave New World" reflect both geographical dislocation and ideological purpose. Examples include:

*The World State:* A generalized political entity devoid of national or cultural specificity, symbolizing homogenization and loss of sovereignty.

*Central London Hatchery and Conditioning Centre:* A bureaucratically clinical name that reflects the mechanization of birth and early psychological programming.

*Savage Reservations:* These reinforce the colonial dichotomy between the "civilized" and the "primitive," echoing real-world imperial discourse.

These toponyms are ideologically loaded, masking dystopian control with euphemistic or sterile terminology. They contribute to the spatial construction of Huxley's fictional universe while reinforcing the thematic dichotomy between order and chaos, conformity and rebellion.

# 3. Ergonyms (Institutional or Organizational Names)

Ergonyms are names of institutions, organizations, or corporate entities, often used to reflect bureaucratic, technological, or ideological power. In Huxley's novel, these names are crafted to emphasize structure, surveillance, and control. Examples include:

- Hatchery and Conditioning Centre
- •Hospital for the Dying
- •Fordson Community Singery

These names are euphemistic and impersonal, often using formal-sounding compounds to normalize practices that are ethically questionable or dehumanizing. They serve as instruments of ideological masking, sanitizing experiences like death, reproduction, or indoctrination by embedding them within seemingly rational and functional labels.

## 4. Theonyms and Deified Names

Theonyms refer to divine or semi-divine figures. In Huxley's society, traditional religious structures are replaced by industrial figures of worship:

- Our Ford (Henry Ford as a god-like figure)
- •A.F. (After Ford) instead of A.D. (Anno Domini)

These names serve as ideological replacements for spiritual systems. By deifying Henry Ford—the architect of assembly-line capitalism—Huxley critiques a society where religion is supplanted by consumerism and technological worship. The use of religious structure and language (e.g., "Our Ford") in secular-industrial contexts highlights the thematic replacement of moral philosophy with mechanistic pragmatism.

## 5. Neologisms and Invented Names

P A

Neologisms are entirely invented or adapted terms that typically name processes, tools, ideologies, or societal functions in speculative fiction. Examples include:

- Soma A pacifying drug that replaces religion and emotion.
- •Hypnopaedia A method of sleep-teaching used for indoctrination.

•Bokanovsky's Process – A fictional technique of mass-producing human embryos.

These coined terms blend scientific plausibility with satire, contributing to the immersive yet unsettling realism of the dystopia. They also help readers recognize the absurdity and horror of the State's ideology cloaked in technocratic jargon. From a translation perspective, these units require special handling to preserve both their foreign novelty and symbolic resonance.

## 6. Slogans and Ideological Mottos

While not proper names in the conventional sense, slogans in "Brave New World" function as ideological onomastic units. They include:

- •"Community, Identity, Stability"
- "Everyone belongs to everyone else"
- "Ending is better than mending"

These slogans serve as verbal emblems of State ideology, repeated through hypnopaedic instruction to reinforce social conditioning. They act as ideological shorthand for complex societal values like collectivism, consumerism, and emotional suppression. Their rhythmic structure and simplistic syntax mirror propaganda tactics used in totalitarian regimes.

Names in the novel serve as ideological code. Each is chosen to reflect the ideological alignment or critique associated with a character:

Bernard Marx: An anti-hero with a revolutionary name but no resolve.

*Lenina Crowne:* A paradox—her name contains both collectivist and monarchic associations.

*Mustapha Mond:* Evokes both globalism (Mond = "world") and cultural hybridity (Mustapha).

Helmholtz Watson: Reflects scientific thought and psychology.

Benito Hoover: Merges fascism (Benito Mussolini) and economic failure (Hoover).

P A

These combinations lend themselves to symbolic irony—names that suggest greatness often mask superficiality or failure.

Huxley's settings are named with bureaucratic precision:

Central London Hatchery and Conditioning Centre: Emphasizes process over people.

Hospital for the Dying: Sanitizes death into a hygienic routine.

*Reservation:* Mirrors colonial discourse by casting outsiders as primitive.

These names are mechanized and emotionally detached, functioning as part of the State's broader ideological apparatus.

Names such as *Hypnopaedia* and *Bokanovsky's Process* encode technological progress and ideological control. "Feelies," for instance, refer to multisensory films that eliminate emotional depth, replacing it with synthetic sensation. Each term operates as a marker of the novel's critique of entertainment, conformity, and scientific detachment from human experience.

In "Brave New World", Aldous Huxley broadens his onomastic method beyond personal and institutional names to include ideological slogans—brief, formulaic statements that serve as linguistic cornerstones for the imaginary society. These phrases, while not names in the classic sense, function as narrative markers and cognitive signifiers within the World State's social structure. As such, they hold a unique place in the typology of onomastic units, serving as ideological naming devices that contain complex philosophical and political conceptions in concise, repeated forms.

Key examples include:

*"Community, Identity, Stability"* – the tripartite motto of the World State, summarizing its values and governance philosophy.

*"Everyone belongs to everyone else"* – a slogan promoting sexual collectivism and emotional detachment.

*"Ending is better than mending"* – a consumerist mantra that discourages emotional or material attachment.

These phrases are deliberately rhythmic, aphoristic, and accessible, designed to be memorized and internalized via hypnopaedia (sleep-teaching). They serve to normalize the abnormal, making socially constructed behaviors appear natural and desirable. From a linguistic

- Ρ
- A G

standpoint, these slogans act as formulaic name-substitutes for abstract concepts like social harmony, selflessness, and economic sustainability—thereby converting ideology into easily consumable language.

In the context of onomastics, such slogans function as ideological ergonyms: they name societal values, much like a company's name encapsulates its brand identity. These slogans replace deeper philosophical discourse with simplified truths, reflecting Huxley's critique of language manipulation in authoritarian regimes. The slogans are not just tools of communication—they are tools of control.

From a cognitive linguistic perspective, these naming devices activate conceptual metaphors that shape how citizens think. For example, "*Community, Identity, Stability*" implies that identity must be engineered to ensure societal balance, reducing individuality to a cog in the social machine. The slogan "*Everyone belongs to everyone else*" converts interpersonal intimacy into state-sanctioned promiscuity, stripping language of emotional authenticity.

It is vital to preserve the structure, tone, and ideological resonance of these slogans while translating them. If they are translated too literally, their impact may be diminished. If adapted too freely, the original satire may be diluted. Azerbaijani counterparts must preserve semantic density while adhering to local syntactic and stylistic conventions. For example, the translation of *Birlik, Eynilik, Sabitlik* for *Community, Identity, Stability* retains the original's rhythm while also preserving its collectivist connotation, with *Eynilik* (sameness) subtly shifting the focus from personal identity to uniformity—a nuance that supports the ideological critique.

Across its pages, "Brave New World" demonstrates a complex and multi-functional system of naming that operates on several levels—character identity, institutional labeling, ideological indoctrination, and technological invention. These names are never random; they are deliberate linguistic constructs imbued with historical allusions, philosophical satire, and cultural commentary.

Through anthroponyms, Huxley critiques ideological archetypes and constructs symbolic character roles. Through toponyms and ergonyms, he defines a world where bureaucracy, surveillance, and scientific determinism reign. Through theonyms and neologisms, he invents a language of control that reflects the loss of metaphysical belief and emotional depth. And through slogans, he translates political doctrine into easily repeatable truths, transforming propaganda into a linguistic habit.

This methodical naming strategy enhances the novel's sarcastic intensity, narrative coherence, and philosophical scope. It also opens up a wide range of research for translation studies, as the preservation or alteration of these onomastic features reflects not just linguistic method but also cultural perspective.

In the following chapter, we will look at how this complex onomastic system was approached in the Azerbaijani translation—what was preserved, what was adapted, and what was lost or reinterpreted—to shed light on the cognitive and cultural dynamics of cross-linguistic literary transmission.

## 2.2 Symbolism and Societal Implications of Names in the Novel

In "Brave New World", names are not merely linguistic tools for identification; they are ideological instruments deliberately embedded into the narrative to enhance satire, reflect power dynamics, and expose the socio-political machinery of Huxley's dystopia. Names in this novel function as condensed symbols, signifying cultural values, societal hierarchies, and philosophical conflicts. By examining the symbolic dimensions of Huxley's naming strategy, we can understand how names contribute to the thematic resonance of the novel and reveal the deeper moral and political critiques underlying its world-building.

Huxley's selection of character names taps directly into the collective memory of 20thcentury history. These names are not subtle; they are loaded with ideological signifiers. *"Bernard Marx"* references Karl Marx, the father of socialism, yet the character lacks revolutionary fervor. Instead, Bernard is self-absorbed and anxious about his physical inadequacy, symbolizing the dilution or commodification of revolutionary ideals in the modern age.

*"Lenina Crowne"* merges Vladimir Lenin with royal connotations (Crowne). The ironic juxtaposition implies the coexistence of collectivist and hierarchical ideologies, mirroring the contradictions in the World State itself—where mass conformity is enforced through rigid stratification.

*"Mustapha Mond,"* the World Controller, fuses cultural and political references. "Mustapha" evokes Islamic tradition, while "Mond" (meaning "world" in French and German) positions him as a global authority. Mond represents a convergence of scientific authoritarianism and ethical utilitarianism, embodying the State's rationalized control of truth and human values.

> P A G

Perhaps the most jarring symbolic manipulation in the novel is the sanctification of Henry Ford. "*Our Ford*," used as a replacement for "Our Lord," is not just a linguistic quirk—it represents the spiritual displacement caused by industrial capitalism. Fordism, which promotes assembly line efficiency and economic productivity, is elevated to a quasi-religious status.

Dating history as "*A.F.*" (After Ford) rewrites human chronology, placing technological innovation at the heart of civilization. This symbolic substitution critiques the modern obsession with production, where economic utility supersedes moral or spiritual inquiry. In the Azerbaijani translation, this concept must be preserved through deliberate phrasing and potentially explanatory footnotes to convey the gravity of this cultural transformation.

A crucial symbolic function of names in "Brave New World" lies in their ironic contrast with character behavior. *Bernard Marx*, with a name suggesting rebellion, craves approval. *Lenina*, named after a revolutionary, follows social norms unquestioningly. *Helmholtz Watson*, a composite of scientific and behavioral theorists, seeks emotional and intellectual depth in a society that discourages both.

This irony underscores the dissonance between ideological language and lived experience in the novel. Names become masks, hiding the void or conflict within the character. Such contrasts are essential to understanding Huxley's satirical tone and must be rendered effectively in translation to preserve their layered implications.

Naming in the World State is also a mechanism for maintaining class hierarchies. *Alphas and Betas* are given names with cultural depth, often Western and recognizably historical. By contrast, lower castes such as *Gammas, Deltas, and Epsilons* are largely nameless, defined by color, uniform, or function rather than individual identity.

This selective distribution of names symbolizes the erasure of personhood among the lower classes. Their anonymity emphasizes the success of the State in producing uniform, obedient workers who lack personal ambition or history. The lack of proper names becomes a metaphor for systemic dehumanization.

In traditional societies, names are rooted in genealogy, religion, and cultural inheritance. Huxley's World State severs these ties. Without parents, surnames lose meaning. Characters like *Lenina Crowne* carry titles that suggest lineage, but these are stripped of historical substance.

Names are assigned based on societal need, not personal background. They function as role identifiers—tools of administration rather than symbols of individuality. This

- P A
- G E

transformation reflects a world where identity is state-engineered and memory is manufactured. The Azerbaijani translation must subtly convey this disconnection through its rendering of surnames and social labels.

John, the only character whose name is devoid of political or historical allusion, represents the vestiges of authentic humanity. His biblical name, *"John,"* connotes universality and tradition. Unlike other characters, John has a mother, reads literature, and reflects on ethical dilemmas.

His name this serves as a symbol of human depth in a shallow world. His tragic arc ending in isolation and suicide—illustrates the incompatibility of moral complexity with a mechanized, pleasure-driven society. His symbolic role is central to the novel's critique of progress divorced from human dignity.

The phonology of names in "Brave New World" also carries symbolic meaning. Many terms—like "*Soma*," "*Feelies*," and "*Hypnopaedia*"—are easy to pronounce and have a musical rhythm. This linguistic economy mimics advertising and branding strategies, creating cognitive comfort and emotional detachment.

These phonetic patterns mirror the State's approach to control: smooth, seductive, and ubiquitous. The Azerbaijani equivalents of these names must consider both sound and connotation to replicate the hypnotic effect of Huxley's original language.

Some names in the novel serve not just as isolated markers, but as all-encompassing symbols. *"Ford"* appears in multiple contexts: swearing ("Oh Ford!"), religious rituals, and even expressions of social piety. This repetition embeds ideology into everyday speech.

Such linguistic saturation parallels how modern branding operates, making certain names unavoidable and ideologically charged. Huxley critiques how societies internalize these symbols to the point of unawareness. For translators, capturing this saturation demands careful repetition and contextual alignment.

Translating these symbolic names into Azerbaijani poses multiple challenges. While some names (e.g., "John," "Bernard") can be directly transferred, others lose their allusive power in a different cultural context. *"Ford,"* for instance, may not evoke the same historical or economic associations for Azerbaijani readers.

To address this, translators must use paratextual elements—such as footnotes, glossaries, or prefaces—to recontextualize meaning. In some cases, domestication strategies might be used; in others, a foreignizing approach maintains the exoticism and invites deeper reflection.

- P A
- G E

The translator's ethical and creative decisions directly shape the target reader's engagement with the text's ideological underpinnings.

The symbolic significance of names in "Brave New World" transcends mere narrative utility. Names function as ideological constructs, cultural critiques, and linguistic mechanisms of control. They embody the novel's central anxieties about identity, power, conformity, and language.

Understanding the symbolism embedded in Huxley's onomastic strategy allows us to appreciate the depth of his dystopian vision. In translation, preserving this symbolic richness requires more than linguistic skill—it demands cultural sensitivity, historical awareness, and creative interpretation. As we turn to the Azerbaijani translation in the following chapter, the complexity and stakes of rendering these names across languages will become ever more apparent.

Names in Huxley's novel serve as semiotic instruments of control, critique, and resistance. They are not merely decorative; they are central to the ideological construction of the narrative. Their translation demands not only linguistic fidelity but symbolic resonance. In the chapters that follow, this study will explore how the Azerbaijani translator approached these challenges—retaining, adapting, or transforming names to convey their layered meanings to a different cultural audience.

# **CHAPTER III. RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS**

#### **3.1 Challenges of Translating Onomastic Units**

The translation of onomastic units—names and naming systems—is among the most complex tasks in literary translation. This complexity is amplified when the source text is as ideologically and symbolically saturated as Aldous Huxley's "Brave New World". The translator is confronted not only with linguistic equivalence but with cultural and historical transfer, narrative tone, and ideological nuance. This section explores the multifaceted challenges faced when translating the novel's onomastic elements into Azerbaijani, with a focus on semantic retention, cultural resonance, phonetic adaptation, ideological acceptability, and the broader sociolinguistic context of the target language.

Many names in "Brave New World" refer to early twentieth-century political, intellectual, and scientific leaders. Translating names like *"Lenina," "Bernard Marx," or "Mustapha Mond"* implies a familiarity with people like *Lenin, Karl Marx, and Atatürk.* Azerbaijani readers may not immediately identify these names with their historical counterparts. The translator must determine whether to leave the names as is, enrich them with paratextual information, or modify them to preserve symbolic meaning. Cultural memory and educational systems in Azerbaijan may highlight different historical references, resulting in a potential gap.

A fundamental question in translating onomastic units is whether to transliterate or translate the semantic content of the name. Names such *as "Bokanovsky's Process" and "Podsnap's Technique"* are fictional constructs that sound scientific and bureaucratic while critiquing mechanized reproduction. Transliteration preserves the invented flavor but may obscure satire. Semantic transfer may clarify but risks overexplaining or sounding unnatural. According to Peter Newmark, semantic fidelity should yield to communicative clarity when the name's meaning is essential to understanding its function in the narrative.

Azerbaijani, as a Turkic language with agglutinative morphology, presents unique challenges in adapting English-derived names. Names like "*Helmholtz*" or "*Watson*" do not fit Azerbaijani phonotactics. Moreover, gendered interpretations of names like "*Lenina*" may differ. The translator must balance readability with respect for the source text. Proper phonological rendering may require the addition or omission of certain phonemes to conform to Azerbaijani pronunciation norms while preserving orthographic familiarity.

P A G

Certain names, like "*Marx*" or "*Ford*," carry ideological weight that may be controversial or misunderstood. The translator must navigate potential sensitivities and consider whether to preserve, modify, or footnote such references. In post-Soviet cultural contexts, figures like *Marx or Lenin* evoke different connotations. Translators working under restrictive publishing conditions may have to contend with ideological gatekeeping, risking either diluting or neutralizing the subversive tone of the original.

Symbolic names such as "*Our Ford*" parody Christian language and reflect industrial worship. This may be culturally opaque to Azerbaijani readers. Similarly, "*John the Savage*" references Western tropes that require contextual support in translation. As Lawrence Venuti emphasizes, foreignizing strategies may preserve textual integrity while requiring complementary contextualization through footnotes or paratexts.

A uniform strategy across all onomastic units is critical for coherence. Recurrent terms and names, especially institutional or technological ones, must be translated consistently to maintain thematic clarity. A glossary or translator's appendix can provide standardization across the entire text, allowing readers to trace recurring themes embedded in the names.

Literal transliteration preserves form but may sacrifice depth. Interpretative translation can be insightful but intrusive. The translator must evaluate each name's narrative function and cultural connotation. Christiane Nord's functionalist model suggests that the skopos—or purpose—of the translation determines the best strategy. In this context, preserving the ideological and symbolic essence of names may justify selective reinterpretation.

Footnotes, glossaries, or prefaces may be used to preserve meaning without cluttering the main text. Their effectiveness depends on the intended readership—academic versus general. For instance, annotations may be more appropriate in a scholarly edition, while in a commercial translation, brief in-line clarifications or stylistic glossing might suffice.

Different reading cultures have varied tolerances for foreign elements. Understanding Azerbaijani expectations—regarding fluency, irony, or allusion—is essential for effective translation. The translator must consider whether readers expect a seamless narrative or prefer texts that retain foreignness as a sign of authenticity.

As a dystopian novel, "Brave New World" requires philosophical, historical, and literary knowledge for adequate translation. Onomastic units reflect these intersections, demanding

- Ρ
- A G

both creativity and analytical rigor from the translator. Translators must be aware of intertextual layers and genre-specific tropes, including irony, parody, and allegory.

Certain names have religious or cultural resonance in Azerbaijan. Translators must tread carefully when translating satirical names like "*Mustapha Mond*," ensuring that such names are not perceived as disrespectful. Cultural taboos may require cautious rendering or indirect references.

Terms like "*Feelies*" and "Malthusian Drill" require imaginative rendering. The translator must create neologisms that preserve tone and meaning, often through hybridization or creative analogy. These invented terms need to strike a balance between plausibility and estrangement.

Some cultural or historical references may not fully translate. These losses can be offset by contextual enhancements elsewhere in the narrative. A translator may choose to reinforce a diluted name-based allusion by intensifying its thematic echo in descriptive or narrative prose.

Translating onomastic units in "Brave New World" into Azerbaijani is an act of negotiation—between form and function, accessibility and fidelity, interpretation and preservation. The translator operates as a cultural ambassador, responsible for shaping not only language but perception. Through balancing foreignization and domestication, and informed by theoretical frameworks such as those of Nord, Venuti, and Newmark, the translator contributes to a deeper, cross-cultural understanding of one of the most ideologically nuanced dystopian works of the 20th century.

### 3.2. Strategies for Preserving Context and Meaning in Translation

The translation of onomastic units in "Brave New World" into Azerbaijani involves not only grammatical challenges, but also profound ideological and cultural implications. Following the issues mentioned in the preceding section, this section delves into the specific tactics used in the Azerbaijani translation to preserve the context, symbolic weight, and sarcastic undertone of Huxley's original names and coined terminology. The translator uses a subtle combination of foreignization and domestication, as well as supplementary tactics including transliteration, calque, cultural substitution, footnotes, explicitation, and hybridization.

Each technique is chosen in accordance with the text's tone, Azerbaijani linguistic conventions, and the intended audience's sociocultural background. This section carefully elaborates on the methodology using extensive examples, functional analysis, and theoretical framing, demonstrating how the Azerbaijani version retains the novel's philosophical essence.

For many proper names, particularly those with symbolic or ideological references, the translator uses transliteration while modifying orthographic patterns to align with Azerbaijani pronunciation and grammar. This is not a mechanical act but a calculated decision to preserve recognizability while ensuring phonological harmony in the target language.

For instance:

• *Bernard Marx* becomes Bernard Marks, preserving the reference to Karl Marx while adapting the ending to align with phonotactic rules.

• *Lenina Crowne* becomes Lenina Kraun, retaining the Soviet ideological link through her first name and adjusting the surname for readability and resonance.

This transliteration strategy echoes Venuti's concept of foreignization, making the foreign visible while accommodating the orthographic and phonetic system of the target language. In Nord's functionalist terms, it supports the skopos of ideological clarity without alienating the reader.

In cases where the name or term is an invented or culturally neutral neologism, the translation often employs direct borrowing. This maintains the exotic or speculative essence of Huxley's invented world.

Examples include:

• Soma is retained as Soma, preserving its foreign and quasi-religious connotation.

• Hypnopaedia becomes hipnopediya, a partially naturalized spelling that retains its scientific novelty.

Direct borrowing upholds the integrity of the fictional world and reflects Huxley's speculative tone. It aligns with Venuti's emphasis on preserving the strangeness of the source text while accommodating target language readers through minor orthographic adjustment.

Ρ

A G E Calques—literal, word-for-word translations—are used particularly for institutional names and ideological slogans. These onomastic units carry both semantic and symbolic meaning.

Examples:

- Community, Identity, Stability → Birlik, Eynilik, Sabitlik
- Everyone belongs to everyone else  $\rightarrow$  Hər kəs hamıya məxsusdur

These translations reflect both the lexical content and syntactic rhythm of the original. The term *Eynilik ("sameness")* rather than *"identity" (şəxsiyyət)* deliberately shifts the meaning from personal identity to enforced uniformity, thus preserving ideological subtext. The use of calques allows the translator to maintain structural and functional fidelity, as per Nord's communicative equivalence framework.

Explicitation is employed where symbolic or cultural references would otherwise remain opaque to Azerbaijani readers. This is often achieved through footnotes or brief in-text glosses.

Examples:

• *Our Ford* is explained via a footnote referring to *Henry Ford's* role in industrialism and its ideological function in the World State.

• Ectogenesis is translated as ektogenez with a clarifying footnote or apposition ("kənar doğuş") explaining its biological and dystopian relevance.

These interventions balance textual flow and reader orientation. As Newmark argues, explanatory supplementation is justified when necessary to preserve communicative function.

Where cultural or idiomatic expressions are involved, the translator occasionally employs cultural substitution to achieve equivalent impact in Azerbaijani.

Example:

• Ending is better than mending  $\rightarrow$  Atmaq yamamaqdan yaxşıdır

P A G

While the rhyme and rhythm are altered, the ideological content—consumerism over sustainability—is preserved. The substitution offers functional equivalence, making the slogan accessible and ideologically consistent with Azerbaijani cultural frameworks.

Hybridization involves combining transliterated names with Azerbaijani grammatical forms to embed them into the local linguistic system while preserving their foreign core.

Examples:

• Bokanovsky's Process → Bokanovski metodu

Neo-Pavlovian Conditioning → neopavlovçu tərbiyələndirmə

This method achieves syntactic fluency while maintaining referential accuracy. It also reflects Nord's skopos-based strategy: form is adapted for functional compatibility.

Contextualization through apposition (placing a clarifying phrase beside the term) helps introduce foreign or invented terms organically.

Example:

• Hipnopediya – yuxuda öyrətmə provides immediate semantic orientation without footnotes.

This technique keeps the narrative seamless while increasing comprehension. It is particularly effective for first mentions of fictional technologies or ideological slogans.

Irony is a core component of Huxley's novel. The translator must ensure that satirical undertones survive in the Azerbaijani version.

Example:

• Our Ford  $\rightarrow$  tanrimiz Ford, maintains the satirical juxtaposition of divine reverence with industrial mass production.

Such renderings ensure that the ideological critique embedded in Huxley's parody remains accessible to Azerbaijani readers. Preserving irony is essential for genre fidelity in dystopian satire.

> P A

The translation retains literary allusions and intertextual references to reinforce thematic contrasts.

Examples:

• John the Savage becomes "Yabanı Con", preserving his symbolic outsider status.

• Shakespearean quotes are rendered in elevated Azerbaijani literary style, sometimes with annotation.

These strategies maintain the thematic interplay between the *World State's* artificiality and *John's* humanism, essential to the novel's moral structure.

The Azerbaijani translator of "Brave New World" applies a holistic and highly nuanced approach to the translation of onomastic units. Instead of favoring one strategy exclusively, the translator employs a dynamic combination of methods tailored to each unit's role in the text be it ideological, narrative, symbolic, or satirical.

By balancing foreignization with occasional domestication, and layering this with hybrid structures, footnotes, and contextualization, the translation manages to preserve both the surface form and deep structure of Huxley's naming system. The outcome is a version of the novel that speaks fluently to Azerbaijani readers while retaining the dystopian, ironic, and philosophical character of the source.

This integrated approach ensures that "Brave New World"'s critique of technological utopianism and social engineering remains impactful, intelligible, and resonant, even when crossing linguistic and cultural boundaries.

#### 3.3. Comparative Analysis of Onomastic Units in the Original and Azerbaijani

# Translation

A comparative analysis of onomastic units in Aldous Huxley's "Brave New World" and its Azerbaijani translation reveals both the ingenuity and interpretive challenges faced by the translator. This section systematically explores how character names, slogans, institutions, invented terms, and culturally embedded expressions function in both versions. Through detailed comparisons, we assess not only the semantic fidelity but also the symbolic, ideological, and stylistic resonance preserved—or reinterpreted—in the target text.

Character names in "Brave New World" serve as ideological shorthand, ironic commentary, and satirical constructs. Their translation must retain intertextual references and ideological tone.

• *Bernard Marx*  $\rightarrow$  Bernard Marks: Retains ideological reference to Karl Marx. The phonetic spelling "Marks" aligns with Soviet-era Azerbaijani orthography and maintains the ironic juxtaposition of revolutionary name and conformist character.

• Lenina Crowne  $\rightarrow$  Lenina Kraun: Maintains phonetic form while simplifying pronunciation. The ideological allusion to Lenin is preserved, while "Crowne" becomes more obscure, possibly requiring a footnote to clarify the ironic blend of collectivism and elitism.

• *Mustapha Mond*  $\rightarrow$  Mustafa Mond: Retains the original structure, with "Mustafa" resonating more strongly in the Azerbaijani cultural context. This strengthens the hybrid symbolic identity of the character as a rational philosopher-king.

• John the Savage  $\rightarrow$  Yabani Con: Directly translated with an Azerbaijani term for "savage." "Yabani" aligns with the character's outsider status, although it lacks the colonial nuance of the original term. Annotation can help restore the layered symbolism.

*Helmholtz Watson* → Helmholts Vatson: Phonetic approximation used to preserve recognizability. Requires footnotes to explain references to Hermann von Helmholtz and John B. Watson, reinforcing scientific and behavioral subtexts.

Huxley's invented terms are essential for constructing the novel's dystopian world. In Azerbaijani, these terms are rendered through transliteration, naturalization, or hybridization.

• Soma  $\rightarrow$  Soma: Direct borrowing. Retains drug's sacred and exotic tone.

• *Hypnopaedia*  $\rightarrow$  Hipnopediya: Modified spelling aligns with Azerbaijani orthography while retaining its scientific resonance.

• Bokanovsky's Process  $\rightarrow$  Bokanovski metodu: Hybridization using native suffix "metodu." Retains bureaucratic tone and ideological implication of mass production.

• *Malthusian Drill*  $\rightarrow$  Maltus təlimi: Combines historical reference to Thomas Malthus with native pedagogical term. Symbolic intent preserved.

P A

• *Feelies* → Hissfilmlər: Compound neologism coined from "hiss" (feeling) and "film." Communicates sensory engagement.

These translations reflect Newmark's notion of communicative translation—retaining functional meaning within the target language system.

Slogans in "Brave New World" encapsulate ideological programming. The Azerbaijani translations preserve rhythm and ideological tone:

• *Community, Identity, Stability* → Birlik, Eynilik, Sabitlik: Maintains triadic structure. "Eynilik" emphasizes sameness rather than individuality—highlighting ideological distortion.

• Everyone belongs to everyone else  $\rightarrow$  Hər kəs hamıya məxsusdur: Retains syntactic simplicity and moral inversion of the original.

• Ending is better than mending  $\rightarrow$  Atmaq yamamaqdan yaxşıdır: Adapts the consumerist critique through a familiar idiomatic structure. Some poetic rhythm is lost but functional meaning is retained.

These translations demonstrate Venuti's dynamic equivalence and cultural visibility by adapting ideological expressions to the target language.

Institutional names in the novel evoke depersonalization and mechanization. Azerbaijani translations retain this bureaucratic tone.

• Central London Hatchery and Conditioning Centre → London Mərkəzi İnkubator və Tərbiyə Mərkəzi: Descriptive calque. Reflects clinical tone of institutional language.

• Fordson Community Singery  $\rightarrow$  Fordson Camaat İbadət Evi: Hybrid calque capturing blend of industrial deification and religious ritual.

Names of state institutions are translated with attention to their euphemistic and technocratic tone. Nord's skopos theory validates the translator's functional approach.

Huxley replaces religious symbols with industrial figures. Azerbaijani equivalents must retain this satirical inversion.

• Our Ford  $\rightarrow$  Tanrımız Ford: Literal translation maintains the parody of religious reverence.

Ρ

Ч А G

• *A.F. (After Ford)*: Footnoted to explain its role in the dystopian calendar, ensuring comprehension of the novel's temporal ideology.

This approach preserves Huxley's critique of spiritual commodification.

The translator ensures that bureaucratic euphemisms and pseudo-scientific tones are mirrored in Azerbaijani:

• *Pregnancy Substitute* → Hamiləlik əvəzedicisi

• Conditioning  $\rightarrow$  Tərbiyələndirmə

These terms preserve the Orwellian undertones and clinical detachment of the original.

• Shakespearean passages quoted by John are rendered in elevated Azerbaijani literary style.

• Additional footnotes are provided for cultural or philosophical references (e.g., quotes from The Tempest).

This strategy maintains the thematic dichotomy between John's naturalism and the World State's artificiality.

Reader reception studies and online Azerbaijani literary reviews suggest that major names (e.g., Marks, Lenina, Ford) are widely understood. Subtler references (e.g., Helmholtz or Bokanovsky) benefit from contextual elaboration or footnoting.

Educated readers appreciate the preserved symbolism. General audiences engage through fluid rhythm, adapted slogans, and accessible sentence structure.

Onomastic Unit	Strategy Used	Effect in Azerbaijani
		Translation
Bernard Marx	Transliteration	Preserves ideological
		irony
Lenina Crowne	Phonetic rendering	Retains Soviet
		allusion, partial loss of
		monarchic link

P A

Mustapha Mond	Direct transfer	Symbolism enhanced
		due to cultural familiarity
Hypnopaedia	Naturalization + gloss	Scientific tone
		retained, concept clarified
Ford / Our Ford	Literal + footnote	Parodic reverence
		effectively communicated
Community,	Calque	Rhythm and
Identity		ideological contrast
		preserved
Ending is better	Cultural equivalent	Consumerist ideology
		clarified through idiomatic
		phrasing
Bokanovsky's Process	Hybridization	Maintains invented
		tone and procedural
		semantics
John the Savage	Literal + annotation	Outsider trope
		retained, colonial critique
		softened

## Table 3.3. 1

The Azerbaijani translation of "Brave New World" demonstrates a high degree of fidelity to the source text while skillfully adapting its ideological and symbolic complexity. By deploying a variety of translation strategies—from transliteration and calque to footnotes and cultural substitution—the translator preserves the satirical and dystopian vision of Huxley's original.

Drawing on translation theories from Nord, Venuti, and Newmark, the translator balances formal equivalence and functional adequacy, allowing readers to experience both the surface strangeness and the philosophical core of Huxley's dystopia.

In conclusion, the comparative analysis confirms that effective translation of onomastic units requires a combination of linguistic precision, cultural intuition, and theoretical awareness. In preserving names, the translator also preserves memory, critique, and meaning allowing Huxley's voice to resonate across time, space, and language.

# CONCLUSION

This thesis investigated the translation of onomastic units from Aldous Huxley's "Brave New World" into Azerbaijani, with a particular emphasis on the ideological, cultural, and linguistic implications of names. Personal names, institutional labels, and slogans are all examples of onomastic units that contribute significantly to the thematic and symbolic structure of dystopian fiction. By studying the translation procedures utilized in the Azerbaijani version, this study gives information on how symbolic meaning is kept or altered across languages and cultures.

Summary of Findings

1. Names as Ideological Instruments

Huxley's use of names is far from incidental. Personal names, institutional titles, and slogans in "Brave New World" function as compressed ideological and philosophical statements. Characters such as *Bernard Marx, Lenina Crowne, and Mustapha Mond* carry historical and ideological associations that critique 20th-century sociopolitical systems.

These names are more than identifiers—they function as literary allusions and symbols of state control, industrial worship, behavioral conditioning, and social stratification. Names such as "*Our Ford*" parody religious reverence, while terms like "*Bokanovsky's Process*" reflect technocratic absurdity.

2. Translational Strategies: Flexibility and Fidelity

The Azerbaijani translation combines various strategies:

- Transliteration (e.g., Bernard Marx  $\rightarrow$  Bernard Marks)
- Phonetic adjustment (e.g., Lenina Crowne  $\rightarrow$  Lenina Kraun)

• Calque (e.g., slogans like "Community, Identity, Stability"  $\rightarrow$  "Birlik, Eynilik, Sabitlik")

• Hybridization (e.g., Neo-Pavlovian Conditioning → Neopavlovçu tərbiyələndirmə)

P A

• Apposition and explicitation (e.g., Hypnopaedia – yuxuda öyrətmə)

These strategies reflect a commitment to preserving semantic content, ideological symbolism, and stylistic consistency while ensuring cultural intelligibility.

3. Comparative Equivalence and Functional Preservation

Most key names retain their symbolic and satirical force in the Azerbaijani version. Where literal rendering might obscure meaning, explanatory strategies or domestic substitutions are used judiciously. The translator avoids over-domestication, prioritizing narrative and ideological fidelity.

4. Reader Engagement and Interpretive Access

Footnotes, apposition, and careful phrase construction aid comprehension without disrupting the narrative flow. The translator balances reader immersion with cultural explanation, successfully preserving the novel's dystopian atmosphere.

5. Limitations and Compensation

Some symbolic richness—such as phonetic play, rhyme, or specific colonial undertones—may be partially lost. However, these losses are offset through contextual reinforcement, narrative emphasis, and stylistic adaptation.

Scholarly Contributions

This study makes several contributions to literary translation and onomastics:

• Interdisciplinary Integration: It connects onomastics with translation theory, semiotics, and cultural studies.

• Practical Framework: Offers structured strategies for translating ideologically dense literature into non-Western languages.

• Cultural Insight: Highlights how naming conventions carry ideological meanings that are context-sensitive.

• Theoretical Innovation: Enhances the dialogue on domestication vs. foreignization, showing how translators blend both.

Ρ

A G E

### Recommendations for Future Study

- 1. Expanded Comparative Studies
- Analyze other translations (e.g., Turkish, Russian, Persian) of "Brave New World".
- Compare versions by different Azerbaijani translators over time.
- 2. Empirical Reception Studies
- Conduct surveys and focus groups to assess Azerbaijani reader responses.
- Measure interpretive success and immersion based on translated onomastic units.
- 3. Corpus-Based Analysis
- Use linguistic corpora to evaluate frequency, consistency, and evolution of names.
- Identify trends in onomastic translation across genres or periods.
- 4. Onomastics Across Genres
- Extend the research to fantasy, historical fiction, or postcolonial literature.
- Analyze Azerbaijani literature for its own symbolic naming conventions.

Names are some of the most deceptively simple parts of any literary work. As our study has shown, they are more than just labels; they carry ideology, satire, identity, memory, and emotional resonance. Their appearance on the page is not coincidental, but planned, and their role within the literary framework is frequently laden with intertextual, philosophical, and psychological significance.

In dystopian fiction, notably "Brave New World", the process of naming is fundamental to the author's criticism of society. Huxley's names are riddled with cultural ironies, historical references, and ideological commentary. Each onomastic unit, whether a character, institution, or notion, serves as both a story device and a semiotic sign. Translating such units is about more than just language equivalency. It necessitates a careful examination of the underlying narrative intent, symbolic burden, and sociopolitical commentary encoded in each name.

P A G

This is where the art and science of translation intersect. The translator must treat names with respect for both textual integrity and cultural factors. They must inquire, "What does this name evoke in its original context?" How will it be perceived—or misunderstood—in the target culture? Will transliteration preserve rhythm and resonance? Should a hybrid or calque be used to convey both familiarity and strangeness? Each option helps to preserve the text's ideological architecture while also improving the reading experience.

The Azerbaijani translation of "Brave New World" is a striking example of literary skill and cultural negotiation. The translator's labor here is neither undetectable nor unduly obvious; it is clearly balanced. The translator navigates a difficult terrain of satire, metaphor, and technical jargon using tactics such as hybridization ("Bokanovski metodu"), phonetic adaptation ("Lenina Kraun"), and explicitation ("footnotes for "Our Ford"). Rather than reducing or diluting Huxley's names, these tactics seek to reimagine their narrative function within a new linguistic and societal context.

Crucially, this translation emphasizes a greater reality about global literary communication: no translation can precisely reproduce the original. The goal, however, is resonance rather than perfection. The most successful translations are those that keep the essence of the original, even if they have to change the literal form. In this view, the Azerbaijani version of "Brave New World" is faithful not because it reproduces the English word for word, but because it maintains Huxley's original tone, symbolism, and emotional valence.

From a theoretical standpoint, this supports the argument made by scholars such as Hans Vermeer and Christiane Nord, who highlight a translation's goal (Skopos) as a guiding strategy. Similarly, Lawrence Venuti's advocate for translator visibility applies here—the translator's hand is seen in the meticulous cultural bridging, and their presence enriches rather than detracts from the reader's experience.

Names, in this context, are both linguistic constructs and ideological battlegrounds. In translation, the act of naming and renaming takes on a subtle but powerful role in cultural mediation. It represents the translator's perspective, interpretive stance, and commitment to fostering conversation among texts, readers, and traditions. What is maintained, modified, and annotated reflects the translator's priorities and sensitivities. It also addresses the expectations and literary norms of the receiving culture.

When reflecting on this process, it is important to recognize that names serve both narrative and emotional purposes. A name might elicit familiarity, uneasiness, or recognition. In "Brave New World", the satirical gap between name and function (for example, Bernard Marx as a timid bureaucrat rather than a revolutionary thinker) is crucial to the satire. Reproducing this irony in another language requires reinventing how to transmit that emotional depth while retaining the original's ideological sharpness.

Furthermore, names are frequently associated with historical tragedy, collective memory, and national identity. The act of translating names from a Western canon into Azerbaijani suggests bigger tales. Translators must analyze not just how names operate in the novel, but also how they will be received in a culture with its own rich linguistic and political history.

This is especially important in a post-Soviet country like Azerbaijan, where name practices have been influenced by Turkish, Russian, Persian, and Islamic traditions. The legacy of censorship, colonialism, and language politics continues to influence how books are read and understood. The translator of Huxley's text must be highly aware of this terrain, avoiding both anachronism and cultural dissonance. The decision to keep the name "*Marx*" or change it to "*Mond*" must include not just phonetic appropriateness but also political and emotional consequences.

Finally, this argument validates names' persistent capacity to shape literary experience. A well-chosen name can bring a character to life, delve deeper into a theme, or clarify a point. A poor translation might distort meaning, blunt sarcasm, or alienate readers. The translator's responsibility is to guarantee that names do what they are intended to do: signal, evoke, and question. As a result, onomastics becomes more than just a part of linguistics, but also an important technique in storytelling.

Finally, translating names requires a great deal of interpretation, creativity, and ethical consideration. It is not about replacing one term with another, but about establishing meaning in a new language and cultural context. As demonstrated in this case study, the Azerbaijani translation of "Brave New World" preserves the ideological substance of the original while creating a story that is accessible, engaging, and relevant to a new readership. In this situation, the translator serves as both a messenger and a co-creator, molding the text's future while also preserving its past. And the act of naming—and renaming—reminds us that literature, like language, is constantly in flux and in translation.

P A G

## REFERENCES

 Abbasov, Ə. (2013). Azərbaycan dili: Lüğətlər və qrammatik xüsusiyyətlər. Elm və Təhsil.

2. Ahrens, K. (2010). Politics, Gender, and Conceptual Metaphors. Palgrave Macmillan.

3. Ainiala, T., Saarelma, M., & Sjöblom, P. (2012). Names in Focus: An Introduction to Finnish Onomastics. Studia Fennica Linguistica.

4. Aitchison, J. (2012). Words in the Mind: An Introduction to the Mental Lexicon. Wiley-Blackwell.

5. Algeo, J. (2010). The Origins and Development of the English Language. Cengage Learning.

6. Althusser, L. (1971). Lenin and Philosophy and Other Essays (B. Brewster, Trans.). Monthly Review Press.

7. Baldick, C. (2015). The Oxford Dictionary of Literary Terms (4th ed.). Oxford University Press.

8. Barthes, R. (1977). Image, Music, Text (S. Heath, Trans.). London: Fontana Press.

9. Bassnett, S. (2014). Translation Studies (4th ed.). Routledge.

10. Bassnett, S., & Lefevere, A. (Eds.). (1998). Constructing Cultures: Essays on Literary Translation. Multilingual Matters.

11. Basso, K. H. (1996). Wisdom Sits in Places: Landscape and Language Among the Western Apache. University of New Mexico Press.

12. Bell, R. T. (1991). Translation and Translating: Theory and Practice. Longman.

13. Berman, A. (2000). Translation and the Trials of the Foreign. In L. Venuti (Ed.), The Translation Studies Reader. Routledge.

14. Biguenet, J., & Schulte, R. (1989). The Craft of Translation. University of Chicago Press.

15. Black, E. (2006). Pragmatic Stylistics. Edinburgh University Press.

16. Booker, M. K. (1994). The Dystopian Impulse in Modern Literature: Fiction as Social Criticism. Greenwood Press.

17. Bruck, A. (2013). Names and Ideology in Dystopian Fiction. Onoma: Journal of Onomastics, 48, 111–128.

Ρ

A G E  Catford, J. C. (1965). A Linguistic Theory of Translation. Oxford University Press.

19. Chandler, D. (2017). Semiotics: The Basics (3rd ed.). Routledge.

20. Coates, R. (2006). Properhood. Language, 82(2), 356–382.

21. Crystal, D. (2008). A Dictionary of Linguistics and Phonetics (6th ed.). Blackwell.

22. Delabastita, D. (1996). Introduction: The Translator's Use of Wordplay. The Translator, 2(2), 127–139.

23. Dick, B. F. (2012). The Literary Companion to Utopian Literature. Scarecrow Press.

24. Eco, U. (2001). Experiences in Translation. University of Toronto Press.

25. Fawcett, P. (1997). Translation and Language: Linguistic Theories Explained. St. Jerome Publishing.

26. Firchow, P. E. (1972). Aldous Huxley: Satirist and Novelist. University of Minnesota Press.

27. Fodor, J. A. (1975). The Language of Thought. Harvard University Press.

28. Foucault, M. (1980). Power/Knowledge: Selected Interviews and Other Writings, 1972–1977 (C. Gordon, Ed. & Trans.). New York: Pantheon Books.

29. Frank, J. (2020). Names and Naming in Young Adult Literature. Rowman & Littlefield.

30. Fromkin, V., Rodman, R., & Hyams, N. (2011). An Introduction to Language (9th ed.). Wadsworth.

31. Geeraerts, D. (2006). Cognitive Linguistics: Basic Readings. Mouton de Gruyter.

32. Genette, G. (1997). Paratexts: Thresholds of Interpretation (J. E. Lewin, Trans.). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

33. Hatim, B., & Mason, I. (1997). The Translator as Communicator. Routledge.

34. Hermans, T. (1998). Translation and Normativity. In S. Bassnett & A. Lefevere (Eds.), Constructing Cultures. Multilingual Matters.

35. Hough, C. (2016). The Oxford Handbook of Names and Naming. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

36. Huxley, A. (1932). "Brave New World". Chatto & Windus.

37. Huxley, A. (2015). Cəsur Yeni Dünya (Ü. Mütəllimova, Trans.). Qanun Nəşriyyatı.

38. Həsənov, N. (2009). Azərbaycan Cəmiyyətində İdeoloji Dəyişmələr. Nurlan.

P A

39. Jakobson, R. (1959). On Linguistic Aspects of Translation. In L. Venuti (Ed.), The Translation Studies Reader. Routledge.

40. Johnson, M. (1987). The Body in the Mind: The Bodily Basis of Meaning, Imagination, and Reason. University of Chicago Press.

41. Kövecses, Z. (2002). Metaphor: A Practical Introduction. Oxford University Press.

42. Lakoff, G., & Johnson, M. (1980). Metaphors We Live By. University of Chicago Press.

43. Langacker, R. W. (2008). Cognitive Grammar: A Basic Introduction. Oxford University Press.

44. Larson, M. L. (1998). Meaning-Based Translation: A Guide to Cross-Language Equivalence. University Press of America.

45. Lotman, Y. (2009). Culture and Explosion. De Gruyter Mouton.

46. McArthur, T. (1992). The Oxford Companion to the English Language. Oxford University Press.

47. Moylan, T. (2000). Scraps of the Untainted Sky: Science Fiction, Utopia, Dystopia. Westview Press.

48. Newmark, P. (1988). A Textbook of Translation. Prentice Hall.

49. Nord, C. (1997). Translating as a Purposeful Activity: Functionalist Approaches Explained. Manchester: St. Jerome Publishing.

50. Nord, C. (2005). Text Analysis in Translation: Theory, Methodology, and Didactic Application. Rodopi.

51. Nuessel, F. (1992). The Study of Names: A Guide to the Principles and Topics. Greenwood Press.

52. Sargisson, L. (1996). Contemporary Feminist Utopianism. Routledge.

53. Trudgill, P. (2000). Sociolinguistics: An Introduction to Language and Society. Penguin Books.

54. Tymoczko, M. (2003). Ideology and the Position of the Translator. In M. Calzada Pérez (Ed.), Apropos of Ideology. St. Jerome Publishing.

55. Van Langendonck, W. (2007). Theory and Typology of Proper Names. Mouton de Gruyter.

56. Venuti, L. (2008). The Translator's Invisibility: A History of Translation (2nd ed.). Routledge.

# **Internet Resources**

1. Translating Neologisms in Dystopian Literature

Lexical Innovation in Aldous Huxley's "Brave New World" and Its Croatian Rendition

https://hrcak.srce.hr/file/393114

2. Language Control in Aldous Huxley's "Brave New World"

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/375634174\_Language\_Control\_in\_Aldous\_H uxley's\_Brave\_New\_World

3. Translation or Rewriting of Proper Names

https://www.diva-portal.org/smash/get/diva2:1542884/FULLTEXT01.pdf

4. Proper Names in Translation: An Explanatory Attempt

<u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/270950289\_Proper\_Names\_in\_Translation\_A</u> <u>n\_Explanatory\_Attempt</u>

5. The Possibilities of Translating Proper Names from English into Azerbaijani

https://dspace.khazar.org/bitstream/20.500.12323/7743/1/The%20Possibilities%20of%2 0Translating%20Proper%20Names%20from%20English%20into%20Azerbaijani.pdf

6. The Problem of the Translation of Proper Names in Literary Texts

https://dialnet.unirioja.es/descarga/articulo/974490.pdf

7. Proper Names in Translation of Fiction

https://translationjournal.net/journal/35propernames.htm

8. A Critical Study of Translation of Proper Names in Fantasy Literature

https://lcq.modares.ac.ir/article-29-64032-en.html

# APPENDICES

## Abstract

This study examines the translation of onomastic units—personal names, institutional titles, slogans, and neologisms—in Aldous Huxley's "Brave New World" into Azerbaijani. These names carry symbolic, cultural, and ideological weight, making their translation a complex task. Drawing on cognitive linguistics, literary onomastics, and translation theory—particularly the frameworks of Newmark, Venuti, and Nord—the research explores how these elements function within the narrative and how they are adapted in translation.

Through comparative analysis, the study identifies key strategies such as foreignization, domestication, transliteration, semantic calque, and the use of explanatory footnotes. It focuses on names like Bernard Marx, Lenina Crowne, and slogans like "Community, Identity, Stability," analyzing how their meanings are preserved or transformed.

Findings show that while much of the ideological tone is retained, some names require additional context for Azerbaijani readers. The translator's role emerges not just as a linguistic converter but as a cultural and ideological mediator.

This research contributes to literary translation and onomastic studies by offering a model for analyzing the translation of ideologically loaded names, emphasizing the cultural and interpretive depth required in this process.

Keywords: onomastics, literary translation, Brave New World, translation strategies, ideological transfer, cultural adaptation, azerbaijani translation

### Xülasə

Bu araşdırma Aldous Huxley-nin "Cəsur Yeni Dünya" ("Brave New World") romanındakı onomastik vahidlərin — şəxsi adlar, institut adları, şüarlar və neologizmlərin Azərbaycan dilinə tərcüməsini təhlil edir. Bu adlar simvolik, mədəni və ideoloji yüklü olduğundan, onların tərcüməsi mürəkkəb və incə yanaşma tələb edən bir prosesdir.

Tədqiqatda kognitiv dilçilik, ədəbi onomastika və tərcümə nəzəriyyəsinə — xüsusilə Newmark, Venuti və Nordun yanaşmalarına əsaslanaraq bu adların əsərdəki funksiyaları və tərcümədə necə uyğunlaşdırıldığı araşdırılır. Müqayisəli təhlil vasitəsilə belə strategiyalar müəyyən edilir: yadlaşdırma (foreignization), yerli-ləşdirmə (domestication), transliterasiya, semantik kalka və izahlı qeydlərdən istifadə. Bernard Marx, Lenina Crowne kimi adlar və "Cəmiyyət, Şəxsiyyət, Sabitlik" ("Community, Identity, Stability") kimi şüarlar əsasında aparılan təhlil göstərir ki, bəzi hallarda mənaların qorunub saxlanması üçün əlavə kontekstə ehtiyac duyulur.

Nəticələr göstərir ki, ideoloji məna əsasən saxlanılır, lakin bəzi adlar Azərbaycan oxucusu üçün izah tələb edir. Tərcüməçi bu prosesdə sadəcə dili dəyişdirən deyil, həm də mədəni və ideoloji körpü quran şəxs kimi çıxış edir.

Bu araşdırma ədəbi tərcümə və onomastik sahələrə töhfə verərək, ideoloji yüklü adların tərcüməsinin necə təhlil oluna biləcəyinə dair bir model təqdim edir və bu prosesin tələb etdiyi mədəni və mənəvi dərinliyə diqqət çəkir.

Açar sözlər: onomastika, ədəbi tərcümə, Cəsur Yeni Dünya, tərcümə strategiyaları, ideoloji ötürülmə, mədəni uyğunlaşma, Azərbaycan dilinə tərcümə